CODING-IN-NOISE DEFICITS AFTER EXPOSURE TO NOISE MIMICKING REAL-LIFE PARAMETERS

by

Sara Ripley

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia August 2022

© Copyright by Sara Ripley, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS ii
LIST OF FIGURESiv
ABSTRACTv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USEDvi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS viii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Overview and research questions1
1.2 Noise exposure used in the studies of NIS without PTS in animals
1.2.1 The noise experienced by humans in real life4
1.3 Is coding-in-noise deficit the major problem in NIHHL?7
1.3.1 The effect of NIS without PTS on temporal processing ability
1.3.2 Is temporal processing disorder a concern for evaluating CIND?12
1.3.3 Auditory response to AM signals14
1.4 A challenge to the dependence of signal coding at high sound level on LSR ANFs
1.4.1 Fluctuation profile model for signal coding at high sound level
1.4.2 Does NIS without PTS change the cochlear efferent control?
1.4.3 The concerns of methods evaluating MOC efferent functions
1.5 The present study
CHAPTER 2 METHODOLOGY
2.1 Outline of subjects and main procedures
2.2 Noise exposure
2.3 ABR and EFR
2.3.1 ABR testing
2.3.2 EFR testing
2.4 CAP and nfEFR from round window41
2.5 Synapse count observation
2.6 Data analysis 43
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS
3.1 ABR
3.2 Synapse count observation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.3 EFR and nfEFR47
3.3.1 Temporal modulation transfer functions47
3.3.2 Effect of stationary and temporally fluctuated maskers
3.4 Transient CAP and contralateral suppression
CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION
4.1 Can NIS be established using noise exposure like what is experienced by humans?
4.2 Temporal processing impairment: was it present and did it cause CIND?59
4.2.1 Evidence of temporal processing deficits as indicated by TMTFs59
4.2.2 Stationary versus fluctuated masking effects on EFR and nfEFR60
4.3 Did CS on CAP reveal the importance of the fluctuation profile of ANFs in the MOC EAR?
4.4 Conclusion
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: EFR comparison between control and noise groups (Shaheen et al.,
2015)16
Figure 2: Illustration of how sound level and MD impact the coding of amplitude
changes in an AM tone by HSR and LSR ANFs19
Figure 3: The fluctuation profile model by Carney (2018)
Figure 4: The efferent feedback loops controlling the OHC gain
Figure 5: Comparison of CS on CAPs (left) and DPOAEs (right), measured in the
same animal approximately 0.5 days apart34
Figure 6: The effect of age and noise on ABR thresholds
Figure 7: Representative images of immunostaining against CtBP2 (red dots) and
PSD (green dots)46
Figure 8: Synapse density comparison across groups ($n = 8$ in every group)47
Figure 9: The impact of age and noise on EFR TMTFs measured in response to
AM at 30% (A) and 60% (B) MD48
Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49
Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary
Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary (high-pass) maskers at the two MDs (30% (A and D) and 60% (B and
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49 Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary (high-pass) maskers at the two MDs (30% (A and D) and 60% (B and E)) for both the EFR (A and B) and nfEFR (D and E), as well as the
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49 Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary (high-pass) maskers at the two MDs (30% (A and D) and 60% (B and E)) for both the EFR (A and B) and nfEFR (D and E), as well as the difference in the masking effect between the two maskers (C for EFR
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49 Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary (high-pass) maskers at the two MDs (30% (A and D) and 60% (B and E)) for both the EFR (A and B) and nfEFR (D and E), as well as the difference in the masking effect between the two maskers (C for EFR and F for nfEFR)
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)49 Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary (high-pass) maskers at the two MDs (30% (A and D) and 60% (B and E)) for both the EFR (A and B) and nfEFR (D and E), as well as the difference in the masking effect between the two maskers (C for EFR and F for nfEFR)
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)
 Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B)

ABSTRACT

Noise induced synaptopathy (NIS) has been thoroughly researched in animals since the first observation of significant synaptic loss without permanent threshold shift (PTS) in CBA mice after brief noise exposure. However, it remains a challenge to translate these animal findings to human data, since the noise used to establish NIS in previous animal studies is unlike the noise experienced by humans in everyday life. A total of 32 albino guinea pigs were separated into a control and a noise group. The noise group was exposed to noise mimicking what is experienced by humans (relatively low in level, fluctuated and intermittent) to investigate whether NIS without PTS could be established by such noise. It was also examined whether coding-in-noise deficits (CIND) are the major difficulty associated with NIS without PTS, which has previously been speculated based on evidence for disproportionate synaptic loss for auditory nerve fibers (ANFs) with low spontaneous rates (LSR). This was done by examining the impact of the NIS on temporal processing under masking. Furthermore, since robust evidence supporting CIND as the major problem associated with NIS is limited, the role of LSR ANFs in signal coding of high-level noise has been reexamined (see review (Carney, 2018)): the fluctuation profile model has been proposed to support a role for high-SR ANFs in the coding of high-level noise in combination with efferent control of cochlear gain. This study evaluated the role of temporal fluctuation in evoking efferent feedback and the effects of NIS on this feedback. Results showed that noise exposure experienced by humans in daily life is less effective in causing NIS, and that the NIS causes temporal processing deficits that are likely of a central origin. Additionally, results demonstrated no apparent evidence suggesting that NIS deteriorates the signal detection ability in noise using temporal cues. Finally, the results did not provide sufficient evidence supporting the MOC regulation in the fluctuation profile model.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

ABR	Auditory brainstem response
AM	Amplitude modulation
ANF	Auditory nerve fiber
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASSR	Auditory steady state response
AVCN	Anteroventral cochlear nucleus
BBN	Broadband noise
BMF	Best modulation frequency
CAP	Compound action potential
CF	Characteristic frequency
CIND	Coding-in-noise deficits
CN	Cochlear nucleus
CS	Contralateral suppression
CtBP2	C-terminal binding protein 2
DCN	Dorsal cochlear nucleus
DPOAE	Distortion product otoacoustic emission
EAR	Efferent acoustic reflex
EFR	Envelope following response
F0	Fundamental frequency
FFT	Fast Fourier transformation
FIR	Finite impulse response
HC	Hair cell
IC	Inferior colliculus
IHC	Inner hair cell
I/O	Input/output
ITD	Interaural time difference
Leq	Long-term equivalent
L/M/HSR	Low/medium/high spontaneous rate
LOC	Lateral olivocochlear
LSO	Lateral superior olivary nucleus
MD	Modulation depth
MEM	Middle ear muscle
MF	Modulation frequency
MOC	Medial olivocochlear
MSO	Medial superior olivary nucleus
MTF	Modulation transfer function
nfEFR	Near-filed envelope following response
NIHHL	Noise induced hidden hearing loss
NIHL	Noise induced hearing loss
NIS	Noise induced synaptopathy
OAE	Otoacoustic emission
OC	Olivocochlear
OHC	Outer hair cell

Phosphate-buffered saline
Post-synaptic density-95
Permanent threshold shift
Posteroventral cochlear nucleus
Repeated measure
Root-mean square
Standard error of the mean
Spiral ganglion neuron
Signal-to-noise ratio
Superior olivary complex
Tone burst
Temporal modulation transfer function

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Jian Wang, professor and supervisor at the Dalhousie University School of Communication Sciences and Disorders. Dr. Wang provided me with unwavering support from the very beginning of this project. He always welcomed my questions and encouraged me to step outside of my comfort zone to improve my research and professional abilities. I feel very fortunate to have a supervisor who is so invested in the success of his students, and whose passion for research and learning is so apparent.

I would also like to thank the additional members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Steve Aiken and Dr. Michael Kiefte, who provided valuable insight and suggestions regarding research design and data analysis. Further, I would like to thank Dr. Aiken for his support and expertise with software programming, signal design and production, and paper writing.

I would also like to thank Zhiping Yu for her work on the cochlear morphology that was completed for this thesis. Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. Li Xia for completing supplementary data collection to allow for a more comprehensive set of results.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my classmates, friends, and family for their constant support and encouragement over the course of this project. Without any of the individuals mentioned above, this thesis would not have been possible.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview and research questions

Noise induced hearing loss (NIHL) is typically defined by the permanent threshold shift (PTS) caused by noise exposure (Berger et al., 1978). In recent years, however, this concept has been expanded by the finding that noise damage to the ribbon synapses between the inner hair cells (IHC) and the spiral ganglion neurons (SGN) in the cochlea can occur without PTS (Hesse & Kastellis, 2019; Le Prell & Clavier, 2017; M. C. Liberman, 2015, 2017; Paul et al., 2017; Plack et al., 2014, 2016; Tepe et al., 2017). The damage to, and the loss of, the afferent synapses between the IHCs and the SGNs (which are also called ribbon synapses based on their structural characteristics), as well as the associated functional deficits are described by the concept of noise induced synaptopathy (NIS) (Chen, Shi, et al., 2019). NIS can occur with and without PTS. If such damage occurs without PTS, then the associated functional deficits are conceptualized by Noise Induced Hidden Hearing Loss (NIHHL), because such deficits are often subclinical and cannot be detected by routine audiological evaluations that are focused on threshold. However, the concept of NIHHL also covers the functional deficits that have central origins. NIHHL has been of special interest in the field of audiology, and it continues to gain attraction as its possible implications for humans become more apparent, since the damage to the ribbon synapses can affect the ability of the listener to process complex sounds such as speech (M. C. Liberman, 2015).

To date, although there have been a significant number of studies on the topics of NIS without PTS and NIHHL, many knowledge gaps remain. Such knowledge gaps serve as the basis of three research questions that were investigated in this study. The first

research question is understood by examining the animal studies on NIS without PTS in recent history (Chen, Shi, et al., 2019; Fan et al., 2020; Furman et al., 2013; Kaur et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019; Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; L. Liu et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2013; Shi, Guo, et al., 2015; Shi, Liu, et al., 2015; Song et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2020). The literature reveals that the noise used to cause the NIS in these experiments is unlike that which is experienced by humans in real life, making it difficult to use the animal data to predict or interpret human data. Therefore, the present study aimed to investigate if NIS without PTS can be established by noise exposure that mimics what is frequently experienced by humans.

The second research question, like the first, also stems from the fact that the experimental parameters used in the animal studies are unlike what are experienced by humans in real life. Currently, coding-in-noise deficits (CIND) are speculated as the major problem in subjects with NIS without PTS. However, no robust evidence has been found to support the occurrence of CIND either in animal studies or human research. One of the potential problems in the relevant research is with the use of masking. Many experiments used a stationary masker instead of a more realistic temporally fluctuated masker (Chen, Shi, et al., 2019; Fan et al., 2020; H. Liu et al., 2019; Ralli et al., 2019; Souchal et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020). When listening under temporally fluctuated maskers, subjects may detect the signals in the dips of the masker. Since the described signal detection relies on the temporal processing ability of the listener, a masking test using a temporarily fluctuated masker should reveal the connection between CIND and temporal processing ability. This study therefore examined the role of temporal

processing disorder in the coding-in-noise deficits that potentially result from NIS without PTS.

The third research question of the present study is primarily based on the challenges to the theoretical dependence of auditory nerve fibers (ANFs) with low spontaneous rates (LSR) in the signal coding of high-level sound against masking (see review by (Carney, 2018)). Carney discusses a fluctuation profile model to identify the role of ANFs with high spontaneous rates (HSR) in coding supra-threshold sounds, such as speech (2018). This is a compelling argument, especially considering its implications for current hypotheses on supra-threshold hearing in humans. Furthermore, Carney (2018) suggests that the fluctuation profile of ANFs is enhanced by the feedback control via medial olivocochlear (MOC) innervation. This study investigated the importance of signal fluctuation in the MOC-mediated cochlear suppression and the effect of NIS without PTS on it.

The current literature related to the outlined research questions is reviewed in the following subsections.

1.2 Noise exposure used in the studies of NIS without PTS in animals

In recent history, animal models have offered valuable insight on the subject of NIHHL (Chen, Shi, et al., 2019; Fan et al., 2020; Furman et al., 2013; Kaur et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019; Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; L. Liu et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2013; Shi, Guo, et al., 2015; Shi, Liu, et al., 2015; Song et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2020). The accumulated knowledge from the animal studies proves to be incredibly helpful in understanding NIS without PTS in animals. However, the studies are methodologically similar in terms the

noise presentation in the experiments, which creates a significant knowledge gap that makes translating the animal data to human data difficult.

Many of the animal studies induced the synaptic damage and loss with a single, brief exposure of stationary band noise at the upper limit of what will not create PTS (around 105 dB SPL for guinea pigs and rats, and 100 dB SPL for mice) (Furman et al., 2013; Kaur et al., 2019; Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; L. Liu et al., 2012; Lobarinas et al., 2017; Shi, Guo, et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2020). For instance, in the study of Song et al. (2016), a single dose of broadband noise at 105 dB SPL was delivered to guinea pigs for 2 hours. A second example is given by the study of Zhang et al. (2020), in which, although multiple noise exposures were administered, the exposures were still brief (2 hours) and at a high sound level (106 dB SPL for guinea pigs and 100 dB SPL for mice). Moreover, broadband noise was once again used (white noise, in this case). Further, in the study by Lobarinas et al. (2017), rats were exposed to bandpass noise (8-16 kHz) of 106- or 109-dB SPL for 2 hours.

Therefore, due to the noise exposure administered in the outlined studies, it is argued that the noise used in the animal studies is unlike what human beings experience outside of a laboratory setting.

1.2.1 The noise experienced by humans in real life

Human beings are exposed to noise every day, which is concerning seeing as noise can cause hearing loss as well as non-auditory adverse effects such as communication problems (Basner et al., 2014; Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2017; Stansfeld & Matheson, 2003; Zare Sakhvidi et al., 2018). Currently, the noise frequently experienced by humans that has raised the most concern comes from traffic (Münzel et al., 2017, 2020; Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2017; Zare Sakhvidi et al., 2018), recreational events (Fulbright et al., 2017; Ivory et al., 2014), industrial settings (Lie et al., 2016; Stucken & Hong, 2014), and military activities (Nakashima & Farinaccio, 2015; Pfannenstiel, 2014). For the purpose of this study, military activity is not considered because of its limited relevance to the general population. The remaining described settings, which strongly apply to the general human population, generate noise with certain properties that have not yet been exploited in animal studies on NIHHL.

First and foremost, the noise observed in traffic, industrial settings, and recreational events is generally of a much lower sound level than what has been used to cause NIS without PTS in animal studies, when the use of hearing preservation methods/devices is taken into consideration under current safety standards. For example, Lie et al. reported that industrial noise exposure causes between 7 and 21 % of hearing loss among workers, lowest in developed countries, where safety regulations regarding hearing protection are strictly enforced (2016). This is because such safety regulations ensure that the noise levels rarely exceed 90 dB SPL. Furthermore, the long-term equivalent (Leq) of noise generated by traffic is generally lower than 80 dBA. In such exposures, the noise level may frequently peak at very high levels (i.e., 110 dB SPL). However, those instances usually last only for a very short time period (Jagniatinskis et al., 2017; Oiamo et al., 2017).

A second discrepancy between the noise administered in animal studies on NIS without PTS and the noise experienced by humans is the temporal feature of noise. Not only is the noise produced in bars (Barlow & Castilla-Sanchez, 2012) or at sporting events (Masullo et al., 2016) likely to give a Leq of less than 90 dB SPL, but it is also

temporally fluctuating. Therefore, the animal studies that have previously administered stationary band noise were not realistic in the sense that the noise frequently experienced by humans fluctuates in temporal pattern.

The third discrepancy between the noise exposure experienced by laboratory animals in NIS studies and that which is experienced by humans in daily life is related to the first one. In the animal studies, the damaging amount of noise energy is delivered in a short period of time due to the use of high-level noise. However, in human experience, the same amount of noise energy is accumulated by repeated noise exposures with significant interruption between exposures. Such resting time would allow for the selfrepair process to occur and therefore may change the development of NIS without PTS.

Theoretically, a possible argument against the need to test the establishment of NIS without PTS using noise that is more realistically experienced by humans stems from the "equal energy" hypothesis, which is a rule of thumb that some researchers use to estimate the amount of noise damage that would result from different sound levels. The hypothesis suggests that a low-level noise exposure would create an equal amount of damage or NIHL as a high-level noise exposure, if the duration of the low-level noise were extended by the amount to deliver an equal amount of noise energy. However, although research on NIS resulting from low-level noise exposure is rare, the few studies that have examined the idea refute the use of the equal energy hypothesis in studying NIS. In the study of Maison et al., noise of 84 dB SPL was presented continuously to CBA mice for 168 hours (2013). Such noise exposure caused significantly less ribbon synapse loss than that which was reported in the study by Kujawa & Liberman (2009), which presented 100 dB SPL for 2 hours to the same strain of mice. This is noteworthy

because the noise used in the study by Maison et al. (2013) has a total energy that is well above the equal noise dose of the noise used in the study by Kujawa & Liberman (2009). This finding not only suggests that the equal energy hypothesis is not applicable to NIS, but also that NIS is level dependent.

In summary, the noise used to establish NIS without PTS must have the following three properties in order to make the animal data applicable to humans: it must have a relatively low Leq, it must be temporally fluctuated, and it must be repeated intermittently over a long time.

1.3 Is coding-in-noise deficit the major problem in NIHHL?

CIND has been speculated as the major problem associated with NIHHL (Bharadwaj et al., 2014; C. Kohrman et al., 2020; De Siati et al., 2020; Furman et al., 2013; Huet et al., 2019; Kobel et al., 2017; Le Prell & Clavier, 2017; M. C. Liberman, 2017; M. C. Liberman & Kujawa, 2017; Plack et al., 2014). It is typically characterized as difficulty hearing speech in background noise. Therefore, this hearing deficit occurs at relatively high sound levels. There are several clues suggesting that those with NIS without PTS may experience CIND at high sound levels. First, animal data show that the ribbon synapses innervating ANFs with low spontaneous rates (LSR) are more sensitive to noise damage. Therefore, it is the LSR ANFs that lose their function from noise exposure (Fucci, McColl, et al., 1997; Fucci, Petrosino, et al., 1997; Furman et al., 2013; Song et al., 2016). Second, compared to ANFs with high spontaneous rates (HSR), LSR ANFs have a higher threshold and a larger dynamic range. Therefore, unlike the HSR ANFs, LSR ANFs do not become saturated from high-level sound (M. Liberman, 1982; M. C. Liberman, 1978; M. C. Liberman & Beil, 1979; Taberner & Liberman, 2005). Finally,

LSR ANFs appear to function better in signal coding against masking by strong background noise (Costalupes et al., 1984).

On the other hand, the evidence confirming the speculation that subjects with NIS without PTS experience CIND is minimal in both animal and human studies. Furthermore, in human studies there exist more negative publications (Fulbright et al., 2017; Grinn et al., 2017; Grose et al., 2017; Guest et al., 2018; Le Prell & Clavier, 2017; Lobarinas et al., 2017; Prendergast et al., 2019; Prendergast, Guest, et al., 2017; Prendergast, Millman, et al., 2017; Valderrama et al., 2018; Yeend et al., 2017) than positive ones on the matter (Alvord, 1983; Grose et al., 2019; Kujala et al., 2004; U. Kumar et al., 2012; M. C. Liberman et al., 2016; Makary et al., 2011; Meehan et al., 2019; Schaette & McAlpine, 2011; Stamper & Johnson, 2015; Stone et al., 2008).

However, it should be noted that it is incredibly difficult to identify NIS in human subjects due to the lack of morphological information. It is also challenging to interpret human deficits associated with NIS without PTS (if they occur) as many of the reviewed studies relied on self-report to quantify the noise exposure endured by the subjects. Moreover, only functional methods can be used to evaluate NIS in human subjects. However, a reliable method that can quantify the functional deficits that occur as a result of the loss of ribbon synapses and ANFs is not yet available. Therefore, animal studies can still make a critical contribution to establishing such a method.

1.3.1 The effect of NIS without PTS on temporal processing ability

Although CIND has yet to be proven as the major problem resulting from NIS without PTS, such a hypothesis can be further investigated by simultaneously investigating the possible temporal processing deficits that may also arise from NIS without PTS.

The signal processing ability of the auditory system is highly distinguishable from that of other sensory systems, such as vision, due to its high temporal resolution (Hirsh, 1959; Leshowitz, 1971; Ronken, 1970). Temporal processing disorders have been reported in subjects with presbycusis (Gordon-Salant, 2005; Humes et al., 2012; Martin & Jerger, 2005; Pichora-Fuller & Souza, 2003; Schneider & Hamstra, 1999; Walton, 2010), also known as age-related hearing loss, and in subjects with auditory neuropathy (A. U. Kumar & Jayaram, 2005; Lobarinas et al., 2020; Narne, 2013; Vlastarakos et al., 2008). By definition, NIS is a type of auditory neuropathy.

Furthermore, it is highly probable that temporal processing deficits occur as a result of NIS. As described in Section 1.1, NIS is caused by noise damage to the ribbon synapses between the IHCs and the SGNs, which happens to be the first speed-limiting site of auditory processing. At these sites, the primary function of the presynaptic ribbons is to facilitate the neurotransmission through the synapses (Moser et al., 2006; Moser & Starr, 2016; Safieddine et al., 2012). Therefore, damage to the ribbons would give rise to further limitation of auditory processing speed, likely resulting in temporal processing disorders (Buran et al., 2010; Jing et al., 2013).

Moreover, a connection between NIS without PTS and temporal processing deficits was reported in the study of Song et al. (2016), which observed the change in coding function of single ANF units within one month of a noise exposure of 105 dB SPL for 2 hours. The noise exposure in this study, which was presented to albino guinea pigs, led to an initial synaptic loss of approximately 50%. Within the month following the noise exposure, along with partial recovery of the number of ribbon synapses, temporal coding deficits had developed. The temporal coding deficits manifested as the delayed

onset peak of ANF firing as well as reduced peak rate, indicating that the repaired synapses presented problems with encoding signal onset (Song et al., 2016). Additionally, a different study executed by the same researchers reported similar temporal processing deficits in guinea pigs exposed to the same noise in the study of the field responses from cochleae (Shi et al., 2013).

Temporal processing disorders resulting from noise exposure have also been investigated in human participants, both objectively and behaviorally. For instance, past objective studies have used ABR (auditory brainstem response) wave-V in order to identify temporal coding deficits in humans following noise exposure (Mehraei et al., 2016; Prendergast, Guest, et al., 2017). In the study by Mehraei et al., masking-induced wave-V latency shifting was of focus (2016). Not only is wave-V robust in humans, as it can be recorded at low stimulus levels and in background noise, wave-V latency shifting has also been found to correlate with the changes in ABR wave-I amplitude, which may indicate the number of functional ANFs. In normal subjects, wave-V latency is shifted in increasing levels of masking depending on absolute noise level and partially on signal-tonoise ratio (SNR) (Burkard & Hecox, 1983). It is likely that this shift reflects the activity of LSR fibers since they are more resistant to background noise (Costalupes, 1985) and have a delayed onset response compared to HSR fibers (Rhode & Smith, 1985). Therefore, it was postulated that the selective loss of LSR fibers from NIS should yield smaller ABR latency shifting as noise level increases, and that this latency shifting would correlate with perceptual measures of fine temporal encoding that rely on LSR responses (Mehraei et al., 2016).

Among the human participants in the study, those with small masking-induced wave-V latency shifting (which also likely indicates smaller ABR wave-I amplitude and a larger loss of synapses) performed poorer on a sound localization task requiring discrimination of interaural time differences (ITD) in sound envelopes (Mehraei et al., 2016). This result suggests that NIS may result in temporal processing deficits. In another objective study, a correlation was found between poor envelope following responses (EFR) and poor ITD threshold, which is representative of poor temporal resolution (Bharadwaj et al., 2015). These results further suggest that NIS may affect temporal processing ability, given that poor EFR has been found to be illustrative of NIS (Bharadwaj et al., 2014; Parthasarathy et al., 2019; Parthasarathy & Kujawa, 2018; Shaheen et al., 2015). Furthermore, a connection between CIND and temporal processing disorders has also been found in humans from behavioral studies. For example, in their study investigating the connection between temporal resolution and speech-in-noise scores, Snell et al. found that aged individuals with poorer gap detection thresholds showed significantly poorer word scores as the level of background babble increased (2002). These results suggest that temporal processing could play an important role in understanding speech in noise (Snell et al., 2002). The loss and/or unhealthy repair of the synapses innervating the LSR ANFs, to which the noise damage is biased (Furman et al., 2013; Song et al., 2016), plus the potential damage to the synapses innervating the M/HSR ANFs, may affect onset coding (Song et al., 2016) as well as envelope following ability to continuous sound (Bharadwaj et al., 2014).

Additional examples demonstrating that temporal processing deficits occur as a result of NIS in humans are given by the studies of Stone et al. (2008) and U. Kumar et

al. (2012). In the study by Stone et al., participants who had been exposed to noise had trouble discriminating a temporally fluctuating noise from a more stationary one (2008). The study by U. Kumar et al. compared the performance of noise-exposed train drivers to a control group in various temporal processing tasks including gap detection, modulation detection and duration pattern detection. Those in the noise-exposed group not only performed poorly in the temporal processing tasks, but such performance was also correlated with poor speech recognition in noise (U. Kumar et al., 2012).

On the other hand, reports refuting the connection between temporal processing deficits and CIND from NIS also exist. For instance, a study by Yeend et al., which examined the auditory processing abilities of middle-aged participants with normal hearing thresholds, assessed temporal processing using the threshold for detecting amplitude modulation (AM). In this study, no clear relationship between noise exposure and auditory perception was found (Yeend et al., 2017). Additionally, a study by Prendergast, Millman, et al. yielded similar results (2017). In this study, a significant but weak correlation was found between speech-in-noise deficits and temporal processing deficits in noise-exposed groups with normal hearing thresholds. Here, temporal processing ability was evaluated by AM tasks (Prendergast, Millman, et al., 2017). However, it should be noted that in both reviewed studies, self-report was depended upon to determine lifetime noise exposure and it may not be reliable.

1.3.2 Is temporal processing disorder a concern for evaluating CIND?

From the review above, it is clear that temporal processing deficits are likely a result of NIS without PTS, and could contribute, partially at least, to the CIND exhibited in individuals with NIS. Logically, the evaluation of CIND should take the temporal

processing deficits into account. Ultimately, the data presented in the reviewed literature indicates that temporal processing plays a role in detecting signals against background noise. As outlined in Section 1.2.1, the noise experienced by humans in real life is temporally fluctuated. In such noise, subjects use their temporal processing ability to detect the signal in the dips of the masker. Therefore, the masker used in experiments investigating coding ability against background noise should also be temporally fluctuated. When a stationary masker is used, it is not possible to take advantage of short gaps in the noise to aid detection, and thus might be equally challenging for subjects with and without temporal processing disorders. However, the use of a temporally fluctuated masker has been largely ignored in previous studies examining CIND, especially those with animal subjects. In many of the reviewed animal studies evaluating CIND, stationary noise was used as the masker (Chen, Xing, et al., 2019; Fan et al., 2020).

In the behavioral studies with human participants, although both stationary and fluctuated maskers (such as multi-talker babble) have been used in speech-in-noise tests in order to examine potential deficits in subjects with NIS without PTS, the temporal feature of the masker has never been the focus of the studies. Therefore, there is no comprehensive comparison of the masking effect from maskers with varying temporal features. For example, in the study by Prendergast, Millman, et al., stationary noise was used as the masker and there was no difference between the noise group and the control group in the speech-in-noise task (2017). In another study, Gilles et al. examined the effect of noise-induced tinnitus on speech-in-noise understanding in young adults. In this study, participants with noise-induced tinnitus showed worse speech-in-noise

performance than the non-tinnitus control regardless of whether the masker was stationary or fluctuated (Gilles et al., 2016). However, there was no control without noise exposure used in this work. Only the study by Kumar et al. (2012) appeared to confirm worse speech-in-noise performance in noise-exposed participants by using multi-talker babble as the masker. However, the effect of the temporal feature of the masker was not examined. It is therefore evident that a valid comparison cannot be made across the reviewed studies in order to identify the effects of different maskers, which is largely due to differences in research design.

To date, there is no comprehensive evaluation of whether a temporally fluctuated masker is superior to a stationary masker in a speech-in-noise test used to identify CIND in subjects with NIHHL. In the present study, the potential CIND resulting from NIS without PTS was re-evaluated by using fluctuating noise as the masker and comparing it with a stationary masker.

1.3.3 Auditory response to AM signals

Signal processing in the auditory system is often evaluated using amplitude modulated signals (Chen, Shi, et al., 2019; Joris et al., 2004; Moore, 1993; Walton, 2010). When recorded in the far field (e.g., clinically), such signals are typically referred to as auditory steady-state responses (ASSR) or envelope following responses (EFR) (De Siati et al., 2020; Picton et al., 2003). The responses in those tests are measured as the signals synchronized with the modulation frequencies and can therefore represent the ability of the neurons to follow the envelope of the signals. However, multiple generators such as hair cells, ANFs, and central auditory neurons contribute to EFRs recorded in far-field. The relative contribution from each of these different sources is determined primarily by

the modulation frequency (MF), as suggested by available data. For instance, EFRs elicited by low MFs (e.g., < 200 Hz) are dominated by cortical (Herdman et al., 2002; Kuwada et al., 2002) and subcortical (Parthasarathy, 2012; Picton et al., 2003) sources, whereas contribution from ANFs exists in EFR evoked by AM with MF close to 1 kHz (Shaheen et al., 2015).

Although single ANF units phase lock to AMs with a low-pass temporal modulation transfer function (TMTF) pattern (Johnson, 1980; Joris & Yin, 1992; Palmer & Russell, 1986; Rose & Weiss, 1988; Temchin & Ruggero, 2010; Weiss & Rose, 1988), it is very challenging to verify the phase locking to low MFs (i.e., below 400 Hz) via far-field recording. Instead, Shaheen reported that ANFs dominated the EFR peaks at MFs around 1 kHz in the TMTF (2015). In this study, EFR TMTF was compared between control and noise exposure groups (Shaheen et al., 2015). As shown in Figure 1 (Fig. 5 in the study by Shaheen et al. (2015)), Shaheen et al. found a significant decrease in the TMTF from the noise exposed group as compared with the control group for a 32 kHz carrier at around MF = 1 kHz (2015). This decrease was linked to NIS, which is significant at the high frequency region (32 kHz), but not at lower frequencies (e.g., 11.3 kHz and below). The noise exposure used in this study was similar to that used in the study by Kujawa and Liberman (2009), which was 2 hour-long octave band noise centered around 10 kHz at 98 dB SPL (Kujawa & Liberman, 2009).



Figure 1: EFR comparison between control and noise groups (Shaheen et al., 2015).

More recently, Parthasarathy and Kujawa conducted a study re-evaluating the EFR contributors (2018). In order to isolate the EFR responses generated by ANFs, ouabain was applied to the round window (Parthasarathy & Kujawa, 2018), which deactivates ANFs without altering outer hair cell functions (Lang et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2014). The ouabain application did increase the ABR wave-I threshold, and it did not change the distortion product otoacoustic emission (DPOAE). Further, the utilization of ouabain decreased EFR amplitudes in response to AM with a MF of 1024 Hz, but not to AM with a MF of 4096 Hz. Therefore, EFRs elicited by a MF around 1 kHz likely

originate primarily from ANFs, while the response to a higher MF arises from hair cells (HC) (Parthasarathy & Kujawa, 2018).

As mentioned above, EFRs at MFs lower than 400 Hz were not observed in the reviewed studies by Shaheen et al. (2015) and Parthasarathy and Kujawa (2018). Such practice is due to the likelihood that the EFRs at lower MFs would be dominated by a central origin.

Additionally, modulation depth (MD) is another factor that is critical in detecting coding problems in NIS without PTS. AM tones presented at high intensities and low modulation depths theoretically challenge ANFs with high spontaneous rates (SR), low thresholds, and narrow dynamic ranges, since modulations may occur across levels at which the ANFs' rate-level functions are saturated. This idea is depicted in Figure 2, in which typical rate-level functions for both low and high SR ANFs are given along with a high-sound level AM signal. Especially when the MD is small (indicated by the red dashed curve), the fluctuation of sound is in the saturated range of HSR ANFs. As outlined in a study by Bharadwaj et al., when an AM signal is presented at high sound level and with a small MD, phase locking to AM is more challenging for HSR ANFs (Bharadwaj et al., 2014). In such a situation, AM responses are considered to primarily reflect LSR, high threshold ANFs, which has led to increased interest in the use of high-level AM signals with shallow modulation for evaluating possible NIS associated with the selective loss of the LSR ANFs.

Further, LSR fibers are also thought to be more important for signal coding in high levels of background noise (Joris & Yin, 1992; Kobel et al., 2017; M. C. Liberman & Kujawa, 2017; Moser & Starr, 2016; Plack et al., 2016), due to their robustness with respect to masking (Costalupes, 1985; Young & Barta, 1986). AM responses should therefore be better equipped to detect coding deficits in noise compared to transient responses such as ABR and compound action potential (CAP), which are dominated by the onset responses from the HSR fibers (Bourien et al., 2014). This inference is supported by the Shaheen et al. study, which found a more significant decrease in EFR phase locking than ABR wave-I amplitude in CBA mice with cochlear synaptopathy (2015).

However, using the above technique of recording responses to AM at a high sound level in combination with masking, studies by Chen, Xing, et al. (2019) and Zhang et al. (2020) were unable to find a significant difference in the responses of guinea pigs with NIS compared to normal controls (Chen, Xing, et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020). It is possible that the negative results may be related to the use of stationary noise as the maskers in these studies.



Figure 2: Illustration of how sound level and MD impact the coding of amplitude changes in an AM tone by HSR and LSR ANFs. Notes: When the AM tone is presented at a high sound level and with a small MD, the amplitude fluctuation is in the range of sound where the rate-level functions of the HSR ANFs are saturated. Therefore, the HSR ANFs cannot detect such fluctuation.

1.4 A challenge to the dependence of signal coding at high sound level on LSR ANFs

As described in Section 1.3, CIND at high sound level is expected to be the major problem in subjects with NIS without PTS based on the dominant role of LSR ANFs in signal coding at high sound level. However, as reviewed above, no robust evidence supporting the existence of CIND in subjects with NIS without PTS has been found in either animal or human studies. This negative result challenged the entire idea about CIND in connection with the selective loss of LSR ANFs and the specific function of that group of ANFs. In a recent review, Carney presented a comprehensive evaluation of this idea (2018). Specifically, the argument targets the assumption that it is the difference in dynamic ranges of L/MSR ANFs compared to those of HSR ANFs that makes L/MSR ANFs favorable candidates for encoding supra-threshold stimuli. Carney argues that, in order to encode sound level with average rates, several requirements must be met, and such requirements are not met by the responses of L/MSR ANFs (2018). In other words, it is insufficient to conclude that L/MSR ANFs support perception exclusively at high sound level solely based on the fact that only this group of ANFs changes their average discharge rates at supra-threshold levels (Carney, 2018).

The first requirement that fails to be met by L/MSR ANFs is that changes in average rate must be larger than the variance of the rate in order to code changes in level (Carney, 2018). It is well understood that rate variability increases as the rate increases with sound level (Delgutte, 1996; Heinz et al., 2001; Siebert, 1965; Steven Colburn et al., 2003; Viemeister, 1988; Winter & Palmer, 1991). Therefore, it is not only required that the rate changes with sound level but that the rate accelerates upward in order to compensate for increasing rate variability (Carney, 2018). However, such rate-level function is not observed for any type of ANF. Furthermore, the typical wide dynamic range of LSR fibers does not exist in those with characteristic frequencies (CF) below 1500 Hz (M. C. Liberman, 1978; Winter & Palmer, 1991).

The second requirement is that average rates must be consistent in different stimulus contexts in order to code level. However, since the dynamic range in any rate-level function is continuously changing based on the recent activity of that neuron, there is no simple correspondence between an ANF's average rate and the stimulus level (Carney, 2018).

The third requirement is for the SR to be stable over time if sound level were coded by the change in rate with respect to SR. In reality, SRs continuously and randomly fluctuate by a considerable amount (Jackson & Carney, 2005; Teich et al., 1990).

The fourth requirement is that a rate-based code for sound level must be maintained along the ascending auditory pathway. However, in the cochlear nucleus (CN), there is no evidence of high-threshold neurons with wide dynamic ranges that project a rate-based code for complex sound. The CN is just one synapse along the ascending pathway toward the major brainstem and midbrain targets essential for perception (Carney, 2018).

The final requirement outlined by Carney is that the rate code should be robust in background noise as well as in a context of time-varying level, including roving-level paradigms (2018). Carney (2018) argues that the power spectrum model of hearing (Patterson & Moore, 1986), which drives rate-based codes for spectral amplitude, fails to explain the results of key experiments. For example, the ability to detect tones in noise in a roving level paradigm (Kidd Jr. et al., 1989).

1.4.1 Fluctuation profile model for signal coding at high sound level

In order to explain the role of HSR ANFs in coding of complex signals such as speech, which typically occurs at 65-75 dB SPL, Carney discussed a fluctuation profile model (2018). The model provides a potential mechanism for HSR ANFs that are saturated in terms of average rate to instead convey information from the speech spectrum by responding differently to the temporal fluctuations in the stimulus across frequencies. Such response fluctuations are ultimately a result of the modulation produced by the interaction of harmonics in speech, which presents temporal fluctuation in its amplitude. It is understood that ANF firings phase-lock to all of the low-frequency fluctuations, such

as the fundamental frequency of speech (Joris et al., 2004). Since the sound level at the formant peaks in speech is high, the ANFs with a CF at the formant peaks are likely saturated, while the ANFs with a CF at the troughs may not be, depending on the overall level of speech. Therefore, the temporal fluctuations in ANF responses across auditory channels mirror the spectrum of speech—larger fluctuation is seen at the formant troughs and smaller fluctuation is seen at the formant peaks. This is clearly illustrated by Fig. 2 in Carney's review (2018), which has been referenced in this report as Figure 3.

Furthermore, Carney suggested that the fluctuation profile of ANFs is enhanced by the feedback control of the auditory efferent system (2018). Specifically, such enhancement would occur via MOC innervation in which the MOC signals would act to reduce cochlear gain in the presence of high-level sound or background noise. The reduction of cochlear gain would reduce the amount of IHC saturation in channels with relatively low spectral amplitudes, effectively increasing the differences in fluctuation amplitude across frequency channels (Carney, 2018). In combination with the fluctuation profile model, Carney further speculated that the temporal fluctuation in ANF response is an important factor in this control: those ANFs in the channels of formant peaks have less fluctuation, which results in a weaker MOC excitation and therefore less cochlear gain reduction, while those ANFs in the channels of troughs would have stronger fluctuations and then excite MOC neurons more strongly, resulting in a greater decrease of cochlear gain.



Figure 3: The fluctuation profile model by Carney (2018). Notes: This model shows the spectrum of the vowel /æ/ in the foreground, along with model HSR AN peristimulus time histograms (PSTH) for several CFs spanning two spectral peaks in the vowel. The two formant frequencies are given by F1 (700 Hz) and F2 (1800 Hz). The blue line in the background shows the AN fluctuation amplitudes across. Note that the dips in the fluctuation amplitude profile are aligned with the spectral peaks (Carney, 2018).

Four arguments supporting the existence of the described fluctuation profile enhancement via MOC innervation are presented. First, it is known that inferior colliculus (IC) neurons have bandpass modulation transfer functions (MTF) with a best modulation frequency near the fundamental frequency (F0) of male speech (Carney et al., 2016; Krishna & Semple, 2000). Second, MOC neurons also have bandpass MTFs, indicating that they are likely excited by descending inputs from IC neurons (Gummer et al., 1988). Third, Carney proposes that these inputs from IC neurons carry signals appropriate to enhance fluctuation profiles as previously outlined: frequency channels with strong fluctuations, corresponding to the troughs of speech, would excite MOC neurons and therefore decrease cochlear amplification. On the other hand, channels driven by weak fluctuations, corresponding to formant peaks, would result in greater cochlear amplification (Carney, 2018). Lastly, the L/MSR ANFs provide a significant input to MOC neurons via the small cell cap of the anteroventral cochlear nucleus (AVCN) (Ye et al., 2000). In this CN region, neurons have wider dynamic ranges (Ghoshal & Kim, 1996) and exclusively receive input from L/MSR ANFs (Leake & Snyder, 1989; M. C. Liberman, 1991; Ryugo, 2008). Therefore, the loss of L/MSR ANFs impair efferent control, which may reduce the effectiveness of a fluctuation profile-driven system (Carney, 2018).

Although Carney's review offers a substantial amount of evidence supporting the fluctuation profile model, several concerns and unresolved issues remain (2018). First, when the fluctuation is emphasized in this model, the level-dependent responses of the HSR ANFs are of focus, while the contribution from the LSR ANFs is ignored. Specifically, if the contribution from the LSR ANFs were to be considered, the fluctuation profile would be less sharp since LSR ANFs are not saturated at the formant peaks. This should be the case in individuals without NIS, in which LSR ANFs function properly.

Furthermore, Carney's model (2018) focuses on the feedback loop from the ANFs to the MOC via the CN and the IC but does not fully consider the loop via the lower brainstem of the ANFs to the CN to the MOC directly. It is possible that the lower loop may be more efficient in MOC activation, and that it may not be fluctuation dependent.

24

Finally, in the majority of available studies that have investigated the efferent control of cochlear responses such as DPOAE suppression (Atcherson et al., 2008; Chambers et al., 2012; Chéry-Croze et al., 1993; Danesh & Kaf, 2012; Kujawa et al., 1993; Sun, 2008; Zhang F et al., 2007), CAP suppression (Chabert et al., 2002; Kawase & Liberman, 1993; May & McQuone, 1995; Najem et al., 2016; Popelár et al., 2001; Puria et al., 1996), and masking release (Mertes et al., 2018; Nieder & Nieder, 1970), stationary signals were used as the suppression signals. In those instances, it should be the average rate of ANF firing that most significantly influences MOC activation since a higher level of contralateral suppression (CS) signal exerts a larger suppression on DPOAEs (Moulin et al., 1993; Zhang F et al., 2007) and CAP (Puria et al., 1996). If temporal fluctuation in stimuli plays a dominant role in activating efferent control, as suggested above, fluctuated stimuli at lower levels would induce stronger MOC activation and therefore larger gain reduction due to the fluctuation of the ANF responses. Higher-level stimuli, on the other hand, would be less effective in MOC activation since the ANF responses are saturated at high sound level even though the stimuli are fluctuated with time. This idea remains purely speculation as it has not been verified. In one study, an AM signal was used to evoke contralateral suppression on otoacoustic emissions (OAE). Although the result showed that the suppression increased with modulation depth, the suppression was observed at only one suppressor level (Maison et al., 1997). Level effects on efferent suppression of cochlear responses have yet to be observed using a fluctuating signal as the suppression signal.

1.4.2 Does NIS without PTS change the cochlear efferent control?

The hypotheses that have been formulated from Carney's discussion of the fluctuation profile model (2018) guided the present study in examining the possible effects of NIS without PTS on the cochlear efferent control. The current literature on the cochlear efferent system will be reviewed below, followed by a report of the literature supporting the potential impact of NIS on the cochlear efferent system.

Neural circuits for efferent acoustic reflex

The cochlear efferent system is part of the acoustic reflex loop that is initiated by the input from ANFs to the brainstem and then to the cochlea. This part of acoustic reflex is different from the middle ear acoustic reflex in that it occurs via olivocochlear (OC) neurons, which are in the perinuclei of the superior olivary complex (SOC). In order to differentiate this acoustic reflex from that of the middle ear, the efferent control to the cochlea is referred to as efferent acoustic reflex (EAR). Furthermore, although centrifugal control from the auditory cortex, specifically the IC, to the OC neurons exists, the olivocochlear reflex via the lower brainstem is better understood and is likely stronger in the control of cochlear function (Guinan, 2006).

There are two groups of OC neurons, which have been identified and named based on their origins, pathways, targets, and functions (Guinan et al., 1983; W. B. Warr & Guinan, 1979). The two types of OC neurons and their cochlear bundles are described as lateral olivocochlear (LOC) efferents and medial olivocochlear (MOC) efferents. LOC efferents originate from small neurons in and near the lateral superior olivary nucleus (LSO), they have unmyelinated axons, and they terminate on the dendrites of the auditory nerve radial afferent fibers beneath the IHCs. On the other hand, MOC efferents originate from larger neurons located medially, ventrally, and anteriorly to the medial superior olivary nucleus (MSO). MOC efferents have myelinated axons and terminate on the bodies of the outer hair cells (OHC).

To date, the descending portion of the EAR circuit has been well documented (W. B. Warr, 1992), while the ascending portion of the pathway (from the CN to the MOC neurons) remains to be understood. As outlined by Guinan, MOC neurons primarily receive input from contralateral posteroventral cochlear nucleus (PVCN) neurons (2006). Since the main innervation from the MOC to the cochlea crosses the midline, the ipsilateral MOC EAR circuit, which is stronger, occurs via a double cross. For example, consider the right side as shown in Figure 4: to form the double cross, the first cross occurs along the pathway from the right CN to the left MOC and the second cross occurs from the left MOC back to the right cochlea. Therefore, this double cross is the reason why the ipsilateral MOC EAR circuit is roughly 3 times as strong as the contralateral one in most species examined (Abdala, 1996; Gifford & Guinan, 1987; M. C. Liberman & Brown, 1986; Maison et al., 2003; Robertson & Gummer, 1985). However, it is easier to examine cochlear suppression by the MOC efferent via the contralateral pathway. This is due to the difficulty of differentiating the role of the ipsilateral stimuli in producing responses from suppression.



cochlea

Figure 4: The efferent feedback loops controlling the OHC gain. Notes: The short loops going through the lower brainstem are marked by red lines. The thickness of the line represents the relative strength in the typical loop from PVCN to MOC neurons (green dots). The loop from the small cell cap in AVCN to the MOC neurons is thought to be selective receiving input from L/MSR ANFs. The relative strength of this loop is unknown. The long feedback loop (blue lines) includes the projection from both AVCN and PVCN cores to IC, which is sensitive to the low-frequency temporal fluctuation. The fluctuation is inherited and enhanced in the descending projection from the IC to MOC neurons. Abbreviations: AVCN/PVCN, anterior/posterior ventral cochlear nucleus; DCN, dorsal cochlear nucleus; MOCN, medial olivocochlear neurons; MSO, medial superior olivary nucleus; IC, inferior colliculus.

As outlined in Section 1.4.1, the MOC efferent control can occur through different loops: one is the loop via the lower brainstem (from the ANFs through the CN and then directly to the MOC), and the other is the midbrain loop (from the CN to the IC and then to the MOC). Although there exists direct innervation from the CN to the MOC in the lower brainstem loop (Robertson & Winter, 1988), its relative significance is unclear in terms of its role in EAR compared to the longer midbrain loop. Compared with the innervation from sources such as the IC, there is uncertainty surrounding the density
of the direct projection in the lower brainstem loop. In a study by Gummer et al., a few medial efferent neurons showed a short latency (5 ms), which is consistent with a direct input from CN neurons to MOC neurons (1988). However, the group delays measured from MTFs were longer for most neurons (8.2 ± 1 ms), indicating that the activation of most MOC neurons may be mediated by a chain including one or more neurons between the CN and MOC (Gummer et al., 1988). Alternatively, the long group delays may be accounted for a direct CN connection plus a long delay in medial efferent dendrites.

Furthermore, MOC neurons mainly receive projection from the PVCN, as reviewed above (Guinan, 2006). Input to MOC neurons from the AVCN is also suggested to be part of the EAR circuitry, although it has only been noted in a few reports. One study, for example, provided evidence based on fiber degeneration experiments (W. E. Warr et al., 1982). Moreover, the projections in question have been found to travel to the MOC via the small cell cap in the marginal shell of the AVCN (Ye et al., 2000). However, the relative significance of the projections from the AVCN and PVCN in the EAR circuit is yet to be determined.

Finally, as for the LOC acoustic reflex, several pieces of evidence suggest that it exists even though it has never been demonstrated. The LOC neurons receive input from the PVCN, and LOC neurons can be activated by sound (Adams, 1995). The LOC acoustic reflex should be predominantly ipsilateral since the innervation and the sound activation are greatest on the ipsilateral side, and LOC neurons' projections are nearly completely uncrossed. However, little else is known about the function of LOC acoustic reflex.

Potential impact of NIS without PTS on EAR function

As outlined by Carney, the type I afferent ANFs are categorized by their spontaneous rate, and there is evidence for a special role of the L/MSR ANFs in the EAR. The L/MSR ANFs are known to carry significant level information that is important for the gross adjustment of cochlear gain based on overall sound level (2018). This makes sense considering the potential role of MOC EAR, which is the regulation of OHC gain in response to input sound. Furthermore, the functional categorization of ANFs based on SR emphasizes the importance of the projection from the AVCN to the MOC, which was demonstrated in a study by Ghoshal et al. (1996). In their study, Ghoshal et al. found that the majority of neurons in the AVCN small cell cap in cats have a low SR and very wide dynamic ranges (1996). Such finding is consistent with the fact that the inputs to the neurons in the AVCN small cell cap exclusively come from L/MSR ANFs (Leake & Snyder, 1989; M. C. Liberman, 1991; Ryugo, 2008). This is different from the neurons in the AVCN core, which exhibit narrow dynamic ranges (Ghoshal & Kim, 1996). However, it is unclear whether PVCN neurons also receive input from L/MSR ANFs, and whether neurons in the AVCN core project to MOC neurons. It is also not clear regarding the dominance of the projection from AVCN versus PVCN in the EAR loop.

In terms of the LOC efferent, its main function is considered to be the mitigation of damage to ANFs from excessive activation by traumatic sounds (Guinan, 2018). Specifically, since the LOC neurons synapse on the dendrites of ANFs beneath the IHCs, the LOC efferent has been shown to protect the afferent IHC-SGN synapses. This particular role of the LOC efferent is incredibly important, especially with the recent demonstration that auditory neuropathy is a common result of even mild acoustic over-

stimulation (Guinan, 2018). Furthermore, the protection of the synapses between the IHCs and the SGNs by the LOC efferent has been directly shown in a study by Maison et al. (2013). In this study, control mice showed no synaptic loss after 168 hours of noise presented at 84 dB SPL, while the mice that underwent deefferentation surgery showed a synaptic loss of 40% in response to the same noise (Maison et al., 2013). In accompaniment to protection of the IHC-SGN synapses, a second function of the LOC efferent has been discovered. As a way of maintaining the SGN afferent dendrites and synapses, the LOC efferent has been shown to either suppress or enhance afferent excitability depending on acoustic stimulation. This regulation of afferent excitability by the LOC efferent presumably occurs at the site of synaptic contact on the peripheral SGN afferent dendrite (Reijntjes & Pyott, 2016).

In subjects with NIS without PTS, the potential change in EAR is likely due to the change in the ascending pathway resulting from the damage and loss of functional ANFs. Since the synaptic loss is biased to L/MSR ANFs, which are more dynamic in their responses to high level sound, the fluctuation profile model should work better in subjects with NIS. On the other hand, the fluctuation profile should be less sharp between formant peak and trough frequencies in control subjects, because the L/MSR ANFs can provide fluctuated responses at the formants.

As described in Section 1.4.1, MOC EAR can be activated by acoustic stimulation, which produces suppression on various cochlear responses including OAE (Jacobson et al., 2003; Komazec et al., 2003) and CAP (Stronks et al., 2010). This is most easily achieved by the contralateral suppression (CS) paradigm. According to Carney's model, a high-level temporally fluctuated CS signal (such as an AM tone) should produce

less MOC activation, and therefore less suppression on OAE and CAP, due to the saturation of the ANF responses, which results in a smaller fluctuation and therefore less activation of MOC. Note that this idea differs from previous reports, in which stationary CS signals were used and high-level tones exerted stronger CS (Moulin et al., 1993; Zhang F et al., 2007). In one study, efferent suppression of OAEs was observed using an AM signal to evoke contralateral suppression. However, while the result showed that the suppression was increased with modulation depth, the suppression was observed at only one suppressor level (Maison et al., 1997). Level effects for efferent suppression of OAE and CAP with fluctuated suppressors have never been observed.

Furthermore, since noise exposure selectively damages LSR ANFs, the fluctuation profiles should become stronger in subjects with NIS. In other words, since there would be a larger difference between the formant peak and trough (or highand low-level sound) channels, there would be more of a chance that a high-level AM tone would produce less CS compared to a low-level AM tone. However, this has never been evaluated in any published report. More importantly, if the fluctuation profile is the major mechanism for high-level speech coding, then such coding should be better in subjects with NIS. This would offer a partial explanation for the reports contradicting the idea that humans who potentially have NIS without PTS will also present with poor speech perception abilities.

As a final note, it would not be surprising if the level effect of AM CS is not as predicted, since the LSR ANFs may not be lost permanently in subjects with NIS. This idea comes from the study by Song et al. (2016), which examined the effects of noise damage on guinea pig ANFs using single unit recording. In the study, the SR distribution returned to normal one week after the noise along with the partial recovery of synaptic density per IHC (Song et al., 2016).

1.4.3 The concerns of methods evaluating MOC efferent functions

As outlined in Section 1.4.1, there are three main methods used to evaluate the efferent effect on cochlear function, all of which observe the suppression of cochlear responses resulting from the activation of the MOC efferent by acoustic signals. These three methods include the observation of OAE suppression, CAP suppression, and masking release of CAP and speech perception. Due to its relevance to the current study, CAP suppression is detailed below.

It should be noted that, in any evaluation of MOC efferent function, it is critical that the effects of the middle ear muscles are ruled out. In order to distinguish efferent effects from middle ear muscle (MEM) effects, which can be activated by ipsilateral or contralateral sound, several methods can be used. Such methods include vestibular neurectomy (in which olivocochlear efferent fibers exit the brain with the vestibular nerve), using subjects with weak or absent MEM reflexes, and/or measuring the medial efferent reflex effect in the high frequency region where the conduction of sound is not influenced by MEM (MEM is low frequency biased) (Büki et al., 2000).

Pertaining to the described methods for evaluating MOC efferent function, a notable concern of the present study is that only stationary signals have been used to activate the MOC efferent system in the past. Thus far, there are no data indicating whether signals fluctuating in amplitude, such as AM signals, would produce CS more effectively than stationary signals. Furthermore, there is also no indication of whether the level dependence of using an AM signal is opposite to what is reported

using stationary signals, as we postulate from the fluctuation profile model. The present study therefore aimed to provide insight to the model.

CAP suppression

The effect of CS has been observed on CAP in a number of studies (Chabert et al., 2002; Kawase & Liberman, 1993; May & McQuone, 1995; Najem et al., 2016; Popelár et al., 2001; Puria et al., 1996). In the study by Puria et al., which observed the effect of CS on both DPOAE and CAP, a larger suppression was seen on CAP than on DPOAE by the same CS (1996). This result is shown in Figure 5 (Puria et al., 1996).



Figure 5: Comparison of CS on CAPs (left) and DPOAEs (right), measured in the same animal approximately 0.5 days apart.

Notes: A: CAP amplitude as a function of tone-pip level for ipsilateral tone pips at 4.0 kHz, and CS at 80 dB SPL broadband noise (BBN). B: Effective attenuation of CAP as a function of tonepip level, computed from the data in panel A. The vertical arrow indicates the measurement shown by the horizontal arrow in panel A. C: DPOAE amplitude as a function of primary level for ipsilateral tones only and for ipsilateral tones plus 80 dB SPL contralateral noise. D: Effective attenuation as a function of primary level for the data from panel C (Puria et al., 1996).

1.5 The present study

Three main methodological concerns surrounding NIS without PTS were at the center of the present study. First, there are knowledge gaps that make the translation of animal data to human data difficult, since most animal studies have invoked NIS by using noise unlike what is experienced by humans in real life. The present study therefore used low-level (Leq of roughly 90 dB SPL) repeated noise (with adequate intervals) that fluctuates in level (not stationary).

Second, the majority of previous studies examining the CIND associated with NIS without PTS used stationary maskers. The present study used a temporally fluctuated masker in order to mimic the masking experienced in real life. Its effect was compared to that of a stationary masker to evaluate the role of temporal processing disorder in CIND. This design was also used to examine the potential connection between temporal processing disorders and CIND.

Finally, the model discussed in the review by Carney (2018) presents a significant number of postulations that have yet to be verified. The present study tested the fluctuation profile model in subjects with NIS without PTS; specifically, the importance of signal fluctuation in the MOC-mediated cochlear suppression. By measuring CS on CAP, it was examined whether the fluctuated CS signals produced a different level effect than the stationary CS signals, as hypothesized from the fluctuation profile model.

This work has been peer reviewed and published in *Frontiers in Neuroscience* (Xia et al., 2022). Our team has also published a review summarizing the status of research in NIS and NIHHL, much of which shares content with this thesis. This review can also be found in *Frontiers in Neuroscience* (Ripley et al., 2022).

CHAPTER 2 METHODOLOGY

2.1 Outline of subjects and main procedures

This study was completed in two stages. In the first stage, a total of 20 adult albino guinea pigs (Hartley) were obtained from Charles River, Canada for this study; 12 in the control and 8 in the noise groups respectively. At the midpoint of data collection in this stage, we realized that the upper end of the MF setting (1113 Hz) in the EFR testing was not high enough to show the drop off of the low-pass TMTF with MF, and the parameters of the signal used for transient CAP were not ideally set. Therefore, we modified the recording settings for EFR and CAP at the halfway point of the experiment in the first stage. Moreover, the sample size for CAP in both groups was small due to failure with some animals. Therefore, 12 more guinea pigs were studied in the second stage; 8 were used to replace the control group and other 4 were added to the noise group. I was involved in the data collected. The sample size for each measurement was labelled based on the data points that were successfully recorded.

Shortly after the animals were recruited (at the age of 1.5-2.5 months), their external ears were checked for abnormality. The animals were then tested with frequency specific ABR to ensure normal hearing sensitivity. In this baseline test, EFR was also measured in far-field only. Following the baseline test, the animals in the noise group were subjected to a noise exposure over a 1-month period. A one-month rest period was then given to them after the noise exposure. Two months after the baseline test (or one month after the noise), ABR and EFR were repeated on the animals in each group, followed by a set of near-field recordings from the round window, including transient

CAP and AM CAP (or near-field EFR (nfEFR)). Following this terminal evaluation, the animals were sacrificed, and their cochleae were harvested for a morphological evaluation of ribbon synapse count. All the procedures were approved by the University Committee of Laboratory Animals (protocol# 20-024).

2.2 Noise exposure

Multi-talker noise of a male human speech was modified to shift the frequency band to 2-16 kHz using Matlab. To do this, a zero-phase 1000-point finite impulse response (FIR) filter was used to filter the multi-talker babble into 19 third-octave bands with center frequencies ranging from 125 Hz to 8 kHz. Then, a white noise was filtered into 19 sixthoctave bands from 2 to 16 kHz. In each speech band, the amplitude envelope was extracted by calculating the absolute value of the Hilbert transform of the filtered band. Each speech envelope was then bandpass filtered between 2 and 50 Hz to eliminate envelope fluctuations outside of the range of frequencies that reflect human articulatory movements. Next, from each third-octave speech band, the filtered envelope was used to modulate the corresponding sixth-octave noise band. The sixth-octave filter that was used to extract the noise prior to modulation was then used to refilter each modulated noise band. The purpose of this step was to remove any out-of-band energy introduced by the envelope shaping. Then, each noise band was scaled to have the same root-mean square (RMS) amplitude as the speech band from which their modulations were derived. Finally, the 19 modulated noise bands were summed to produce the modified 2-16 kHz multitalker babble (Dorman et al., 1997).

The multi-talker noise was presented in a sound booth via a four-speaker array (Pyramid TW-67 Super Tweeters; Brooklyn, NY, USA), which was suspended 40 cm above the table floor where the animal cage was placed. Throughout the noise exposure, the animals were awake and unrestrained in a metal wire cage inside the sound booth with free access to water and food (Chen, Xing, et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020). The animals were exposed to the noise, with an Leq of 90 dB SPL, for 8-12 hours per day on every other day to allow one day of rest following each episode of noise exposure. The total duration of the noise exposure was 122 hours, making the total energy of the noise roughly equal to the 2-hour exposure at 106 dB SPL that was used in previous studies with guinea pigs (Fan et al., 2020; Furman et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2013; Song et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2020).

2.3 ABR and EFR

All electrophysiological evaluations were performed in an electromagnetically shielded sound booth. Guinea pigs were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine by intraperitoneal injection for the ABR and EFR baseline tests. The initial dose was 40 and 10 mg/kg for ketamine and xylazine, respectively, and 1/3 of the initial dose was added as needed to maintain the anesthesia between stages 2 and 3. This was judged by the toe-pinching reflex. Throughout the experiment, the body temperature of the animal was kept at 38 °C with a thermostatic heating bad. In the terminal evaluation, all the tests were completed with the animals under urethane (i.p., 1.5 g/kg).

An auditory signal processing station (RZ6) from Tucker-Davis Technologies (TDT System III; Alachua, FL, USA) was used to generate the signals for auditory stimulation and to record the biological responses. The acoustic signals for all the auditory responses were delivered in open field via a broadband speaker (FT28D, Fostex). The maskers for EFR recording were also delivered in open field via an additional FT28D speaker. The signals for contralateral suppression were delivered via a MF1 (TDT) speaker via tubing in closed field.

Both ABR and EFR were recorded with three subdermal electrodes, with the recording electrode inserted at the vertex and the reference and grounding electrodes positioned posterior to the external auditory canals. The biological signals picked up by the electrodes were sent to an RA16PA preamplifier, which amplified the signal 20 times.

2.3.1 ABR testing

ABR was evoked by 10-ms tone bursts (TB) with a rise/fall time of 0.5 ms. The TBs were presented at 21.1 /s and the ABR thresholds were examined from 1 to 32 kHz in octave steps. For each trial, the response was averaged 1000 times, or less if a clear and stable response was reached. At each frequency, TBs were presented in a descending sequence from 90 dB toward the threshold, which was defined as the lowest sound level at which a repeatable wave-III is visible.

2.3.2 EFR testing

EFR was evaluated as phase-locked responses to 16 kHz AM tones that were presented at the moderately high level of 75 dB SPL. The AM tones were presented in a sweeping pattern, and they had a duration of 500 ms and a rise/fall time of 5 ms. The modulation frequency (MF) was initially set from 113 to 1113 Hz in 100 Hz steps to get a TMTF, which was evaluated at two MDs (30% and 60%) respectively. Since it was determined that the 1113 Hz cut-off was often not enough to show a clear drop-off of the low-pass TMTFs, the highest MF was extended to 1513 Hz. The data reported in this thesis all used the range of MF from 113 to 1513 Hz.

The EFR was sampled at 24.414 kHz over a 500-ms time window to cover the length of the stimuli. The response of the first 50 ms was set to zero to avoid the impact of the onset response. In each trial, EFR was averaged 50 times and the averaged waveform in the time domain was converted into the frequency domain by a Fast Fourier Transformation (FFT), with a frequency resolution of 1.5 Hz (12407/8096). The spectrum peak at each MF was measured as the phase-locked response if the amplitude was at least 3 dB above the noise floor around the frequency in question.

Following the testing in quiet, the masking effect on EFR was evaluated at the best MF (BMF), i.e., the MF at which the greatest response occurred. The EFR at BMF was repeated separately under each of the two maskers: one stationary and the other temporally fluctuated. The stationary masker was broadband noise (high-pass filtered white noise with a low cut-off at 4 kHz) and the amplitude fluctuated masker was the same multi-talker noise that was used for the noise exposure. The Matlab-generated sound file of each masker was played out from the sound card of the computer that controlled the TDT system and was delivered in open field via a FT28D speaker at 75 dB SPL (yielding a 0 dB signal-to-noise ratio).

To mitigate the impact of random change in EFR with time, each masked EFR was sandwiched between two control recordings (without masking). The two EFRs before and after the masked EFR were averaged as the control for the calculation of the masking effect, which was presented as the reduction of EFR by the masker in dB. This strategy was also used for the recording of near-field EFR (nfEFR).

2.4 CAP and nfEFR from round window

Both the transient CAP and the cochlear response to AM, which is defined as nfEFR, were tested in the terminal evaluation. Under the anesthesia of urethane (i.p., 1.5 g/kg), a silver ball electrode was placed on the round window membrane after the mastoid was surgically opened. To secure the electrode in place, the silver wire was fixed to the mastoid with dental cement. The other end of the silver wire as well as the reference and grounding electrodes were connected to the preamplifier and then to the TDT system, the same way as for the ABR and EFR recording. A plastic tube was embedded through the dental cement to provide ventilation of the middle ear, which prevented the buildup of negative pressure. During the surgery and recording, the animal was placed on a thermostatic heating pad to maintain the body temperature at 38 °C.

The nfEFR was measured and analyzed the same way as the scalp EFR, except the number of averages in each trial was 25 instead of 50 due to the larger signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in the near-field recording. The masking effect on nfEFR was observed as it was for the scalp EFR, that is, at the BMF under the respective high-pass and multi-talker noise maskers. Both the AM signal for evoking the EFR and the masker were delivered in open field via two FT28D speakers at 0 dB SNR.

The transient CAP was evoked by 16 kHz TBs across 90-10 dB SPL to obtain I/O functions. The stimuli were delivered in open field via a FT28D speaker. The effect of contralateral suppression (CS) was observed in the CAP. The CS signal was delivered in closed field via a MF-1 speaker with tubing that was inserted into the contralateral ear. Three types of signals were used as CS stimuli: (1) 16 kHz tone without modulation, (2) 16 kHz tone modulated by 93 Hz MF with 30%, and (3) 60% MDs. With each type of CS

signal, the CS effect was observed at three CS levels: 75-, 63-, and 51-dB SPL respectively. Therefore, CS effect was observed under 9 conditions (3 types \times 3 levels).

In order to mitigate the impact of random variation of the CAP with time, the control CAP (with no CS) was done before and after each test condition with CS (the two controls sandwiched the recording with CS). The two controls were averaged for the calculation of the CS effect, which is the difference in the CAP amplitude in dB with and without CS.

The CAP was also tested in response to clicks at the beginning and the end of the CAP test to index the status of the ear and the round window electrode.

2.5 Synapse count observation

The morphological evaluation was carried out in accordance with previously published procedures (Chen, Xing, et al., 2019; L. Liu et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2013; Song et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2020). To begin, the cochlear tissues were dissected after being fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). They were then permeabilized with 1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 1 hour, incubated in 5% goat serum in PBS for an additional 1 hour, and then incubated overnight at 4 °C with primary antibodies against both C-terminal binding protein 2 (CtBP2) and post-synaptic density-95 (PSD95) (mouse IgG1 to CtBP2; BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA: cat. # 612044, 1:200; mouse IgG2a to PSD95; Millipore, Billerica, MA, USE: cat. # MAB1596, 1:600). After the reaction, the tissues were washed and treated with the corresponding secondary antibodies (A21124 and A21131, respectively; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) at room temperature for 2 hours, and then mounted on microscope slides.

A confocal laser-scanning microscope (LSM 710 META; Zeiss, Shanghai, China) with a 63× water-immersion objective was used to obtain confocal images at specified frequency positions based on frequency-distance mapping (Viberg & Canlon, 2004). Next, image stacks were exported to ImageJ image-processing software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). In order to obtain the puncta densities, over 10 successive IHCs at each frequency position of the cochlea were selected to count the puncta of CtBP2 and PSD95.

2.6 Data analysis

The ABR and EFR were repeated at two time points (a baseline and an end test) in each of the control and noise groups, forming 4 data sets labelled as Ctrl-young and Ctrl-old in the control group, and Pre-noise and Post-noise in the noise group. Due to unexpected recording problems, useful data was not obtained from every subject. The exact sample size was specified in each test result, either by the number in the brackets in the figure legends or as stated in the figure description.

All data in this report are presented as means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). To analyze the data, the data were first evaluated for normality and equal variance. Parametric tests would be performed for data passing the normality and equal variance tests, otherwise, non-parametric tests would be applied. All statistics were done using SigmaPlot 14. For data with multiple factors, analyses of variance (ANOVA) were followed by *post hoc* pairwise evaluations. P < 0.05 was used as the criterion for significance.

CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

3.1 ABR

Figure 6 shows the ABR thresholds measured at the young age (1.5-2 months old), and 2 months later (4-5 months old) from the control group and the noise group, respectively. The ABR-frequency curves measured from the control group at the two time points were largely overlapping, indicating that there was no age effect on the ABR threshold. This was verified by a two-way repeated measure (RM) ANOVA within the control group against the factors of time and frequency. No significant age (time) effect was seen in this analysis ($F_1 = 0.712$, p = 0.422). A two-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the Ctrl-old and Post-noise data sets (with frequency as a co-variant) to determine whether noise exposure had any impact on thresholds. No significant effect of group was seen between the two data sets, suggesting no PTS ($F_1 = 0.156$, p = 0.694).



Figure 6: The effect of age and noise on ABR thresholds. Notes: Ctrl-young and Pre-noise were the baseline thresholds taken at 1.5-2 months of age from both the control and noise groups before the noise exposure. Ctrl-old was measured at 4-5 months old of age (from the control group), which matched the age of the noise group for the ABR tested one month after the noise exposure (Post-noise).

3.2 Synapse count observation

Figure 7 shows representative images of immunostaining against CtBP2 (red dots) and PSD (green dots) from both a control animal and a subject exposed to the noise (one month after). The images were taken from the high frequency region of the cochlea. The images show that the synaptic puncta are distributed mostly along the bottom of IHCs in the control, while the distribution is less organized in the noise-exposed cochlea.



Figure 7: Representative images of immunostaining against CtBP2 (red dots) and PSD (green dots).

Figure 8 compares the ribbon densities (stained against CtBP2) across groups. The data from a previous study were taken for the synaptic counts after a brief-noise exposure at a higher level (106 dB SPL, 2h; Noise 1) to compare with the low-level noise (~90 dB SPL) given periodically over one month and with roughly equal dose in the present study (122 hours, Noise 2). Since the ribbon puncta are paired with PSDs (Figure 7), the ribbon counts were used to indicate the number of synapses. This practice is supported by previous studies, which have shown that the number of CtBP2 puncta and the postsynaptic puncta are similarly changed following noise damage (Maison et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2013, 2016; Wang et al., 2015). Figure 8A shows the ribbon density-frequency map (or density cochleogram). Figure 8B compares the density averaged over the high-frequency region (above 4kHz). This average is 18.15 ± 0.387 in the control group and 15.18 ± 0.185 in the group exposed to the brief noise (dropped by 16% as compared to the control). This value was 16.99 ± 0.12 in the present study after the long-

Notes: Left: control animal. Right: noise-exposed animal (one-month post-noise exposure). The images, taken from the high frequency region of the cochlea, show that the distribution of the puncta is less organized in the noise-exposed cochlea.

term noise exposure (Noise 2, dropped by 6.2%). A one-way ANOVA on rank (Kruskal-Wallis) shows a significant overall difference across the groups (H₂ = 19.79, p < 0.001). *Post hoc* pairwise tests (Dunn's method) show significant difference between the groups of Ctrl and Noise 1 (Q = 4.445, p < 0.001) and between the groups of Noise 1 and Noise 2 (Q = 3.029, p < 0.007), but not between the groups of control and Noise 2 (Q = 1.983, p = 0.142).



Figure 8: Synapse density comparison across groups (n = 8 in every group). Notes: The synapse density is calculated from ribbon (Ctbp2). Noise 1 refers to a brief noise at 106 dB SPL for 2hrs (data taken from a previous study (Song et al., 2016)). Noise 2 is the noise exposure examined in the present study (fluctuated multi-talker noise, repeated over a period of 1 month for totally 122 hours with an Leq of roughly 90 dB SPL). The density was compared between groups. ***: p < 0.001, **: p < 0.01.

3.3 EFR and nfEFR

3.3.1 Temporal modulation transfer functions

Figure 9 shows the impact of noise and age on the TMTF as assessed via EFR. The TMTFs for 30% MD and 60% MD signals from the two groups at the two time points are given in Figure 9A and 9B, respectively. The TMTFs measured with 60% MD were largely overlapped between the Ctrl-old and Post-noise data at high MFs, while the Post-

noise TMTF measured by 30% MD diverged from that of the Ctrl-old, with the largest difference at 1213 Hz of MF. At this MF, the difference between the data sets was statistically significant as shown by a Mann-Whitney Rank Sum Test (T = 59, p = 0.013).



Figure 9: The impact of age and noise on EFR TMTFs measured in response to AM at 30% (A) and 60% (B) MD.

Notes: The Post-noise TMTF curve obtained with 30% MD appeared diverge from the Pre-noise and Ctrl-old TMTFs. A significant difference in the EFR amplitude was seen between the Ctrl-old and Post-noise TMTFs at the MF of 1213 Hz MF (*: p < 0.05).

Figure 10 shows the TMTFs of nfEFR. Since the nfEFR can only be recorded in

the terminal test, they are compared between the old age data set without noise exposure

(Ctrl-old) and the old age data set post-noise exposure (Post-noise). Unlike the TMTFs in

the far-field recording, those obtained in the near field are largely overlapped between the

control and the noise groups.



Figure 10: TMTFs of nfEFRs at 30% MD (A) and 60% MD (B). Notes: The results are largely overlapped between the groups.

3.3.2 Effect of stationary and temporally fluctuated maskers

Figure 11 shows the masking effect by each of the two maskers and the difference between the two maskers in both EFR (11A, 11B and 11C) and nfEFR (Figure 11D, 11E, and 11F). The effect of each masker at the best modulation frequency of each subject was calculated as the difference of the response amplitude with and without masking, or the attenuation of the response by the masker in dB. Universally, the masking effect was much larger when the stationary masker was used than when the modulated masker was used. For example, under 30% MD in the post-noise testing (Figure 11A), the effect of masking on EFR amplitude using multitalker noise was 0.753 \pm 0.328 dB, while the effect of masking using the high-pass masker was 5.318 \pm 0.66 dB. A paired t-test indicated that this difference was significant (t = 6.625, p < 0.001). However, the difference between the two maskers (Figure 11C) did not show much variation between the groups and between the two tests within each group. For instance, the difference between the two maskers with respect to their effects on the EFR at 30% MD in the postnoise test was not significantly smaller than in the pre-noise control (3.509 \pm 0.569 versus 4.564 ± 1.842 , paired t-test: t = -1.185, p = 0.27). This negative result is inconsistent with the idea that noise-induced synaptic damage impairs signal coding in modulated maskers.

The effect of masking on nfEFR by the two maskers was also shown at two MDs (Figure 11D and 11E, respectively for 30% and 60% MD). Similar to the result in EFR, the masking effect of the high-pass noise appeared to be larger than that of the modulated masker and the masking effect by the two maskers appeared to be larger in the Post-noise data set. A two-way ANOVA was performed at each modulation depth for the factors of group and masker type. The analysis revealed a significant effect of both masker type (F₁ = 7.401 and p = 0.010 for MD = 30%, F₁ = 15.716 and p < 0.001 for MD = 60%), and grouping (F₁ = 6.458 and p = 0.016 for MD = 30%, F₁ = 8.339 and p = 0.007 for MD = 60%).

The *post hoc* comparisons (Holm-Sidak method) revealed a significant effect of grouping within the stationary masker for both 30% MD (t = 2.175, p = 0.037) and 60% MD (t = 2.622, p = 0.013) (marked by "#" in Figure 11D and 11E). Further, for 30% MD, a significant effect of masker type was seen within the Post-noise data set (t = 2.183, p = 0.036). For 60% MD, a significant effect of masker type was seen within the Ctrl-old data set (t = 2.358, p = 0.025) as well as within the Post-noise data set (t = 3.210, p = 0.003).

The difference in masking effect on nfEFR between the two maskers (Figure 11F) was also examined by a two-way ANOVA. A significant effect was found for group (F₁ = 4.192, p = 0.049), but not for the factor of modulation depth. However, the *post hoc* comparisons (Holm-Sidak method) revealed no significant difference between groups within either of the modulation depths (30% MD; t = 1.330, p = 0.193, 60% MD; t = 1.566, p = 0.127).



Figure 11: The masking effect by both the fluctuated (multi-talker) and stationary (highpass) maskers at the two MDs (30% (A and D) and 60% (B and E)) for both the EFR (A and B) and nfEFR (D and E), as well as the difference in the masking effect between the two maskers (C for EFR and F for nfEFR).

Notes: Overall, the high-pass noise produced more masking than the multitalker noise. No significant difference was seen between the two maskers with respect to EFR amplitude (C). For the nfEFR, the high-pass noise resulted in a greater masking effect for the noise group than for the control (# in D and F). The difference between the two maskers in nfEFR (F) was much larger in the noise group as seen in the two-way ANOVA. However, *post hoc* tests found no significant differences within each MD. The number of "*" shows the significance level of the post-hoc comparisons within each group, while the number of "#" shows the significance level of the post-hoc comparisons within each masker: one for p < 0.05, two for p < 0.01, and three for p < 0.001.

3.4 Transient CAP and contralateral suppression

The transient CAP was measured in response to 16 kHz TBs. Figure 12A shows the CAP waveform from one subject across the sound levels between 20- and 90-dB SPL. The peak-to-peak value was read from the first negative peak to the next positive peak. Since the CAP was contaminated by summating potential at sound levels above 70 dB SPL, the

input/output (I/O) function was measured up to this level. Figure 12B shows the typical CS effect on an exemplary CAP I/O function. The suppression by three CS signals were quite similar and the suppression was larger at lower level of TBs evoking CAP.



Figure 12: CAP waveforms across sound levels (A) and the exemplary CS effect on CAP I/O functions (B).

Notes: Three CS signals (tones, AM with 30% and 60% modulation depths respectively) were all presented at 75 dB SPL. They show a similar CS effect, which is larger at lower levels of tone bursts evoking CAP. The CAP amplitude was measured between "x" symbols (A).

The CS effect was calculated in dB by using the formula 20log(CAP with CS/CAP without CS). Since the CS effect is more significant at the lower levels, the lowlevel average was calculated across the TB levels of 30-, 25- and 20-dB SPL. Figure 13A, 13B, and 13C show the CS effect by each of the three CS signal types (16 kHz stationary tone, and that tone amplitude modulated by 30% and 60% respectively). In each of them, the CS effects at three CS signal levels (75-, 63- and 51-dB SPL) were presented. Overall, three trends can be seen for the CS effect across the level and the type of CS signal: (1) larger CS effect is seen with higher level CS, no exception for fluctuated CS signal (AM tone) as expected by the fluctuation profile model, (2) there is no obvious difference in CS effect across the CS types. (3) CS effects were not reduced but rather increased in the noise group; suggesting that the NIS did not impair MOC regulation on cochlear gain. Since the CAP suppressions by the two lower CS signals are very small, further analysis was focused only on the CS effect produced by CS signal at 75 dB SPL to show the potential impact of CS types and groups (Figure 13D). A two-way ANOVA was performed for this purpose, which revealed a significant effect of group (F_1 = 18.823, p < 0.001) but no significant effect of CS type (F_2 = 1.747, p = 0.199). *Post hoc* comparisons were then performed (Holm-Sidak method), which revealed a significant difference between the Ctrl-old and the Post-noise data within the TB signal type (t = 2.227, p = 0.031) and within the 30% AM signal type (t = 3.316, p = 0.002).



Figure 13: The CS effect on transient CAP in response to 16 k TB at the low-level average (the average of the stimulation levels of 20-, 25- and 30-dB SPL). Notes: The CS signals are 16 k TB, and AM with 30% and 60% modulation respectively across three levels (75-, 63- and 51-dB SPL). A-C: the effect of CS levels on the CAP across groups, showing a decreased CS effect with decreasing of CS level, consistent across the three types of CS signals. D: comparison of CS effect across CS types and groups with 75 dB SPL CS signals.

CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION

The fundamental goal of this study was to address several gaps in the current knowledge of NIS without PTS and NIHHL, which gave way to three main objectives: (1) determine if significant NIS without PTS can be established using noise exposure mimicking that which is experienced by humans (temporally fluctuated, low-level noise that is repeated over time); (2) determine if the noise exposure in (1) impairs temporal processing and, if so, verify if the temporal processing impairment deteriorates signal detection ability in fluctuated noise; and (3) determine if the fluctuation profile of ANFs is important in the MOC EAR, as measured by CS on CAP, and determine if the level-suppression relationship differs between stationary and fluctuated CS signals.

It was hypothesized that (1) NIS without PTS would be established by the reduction in synapse density. However, compared to brief high-level noise exposure (106 dB SPL, 2 hours), it was expected that significant but much less synaptic loss would be induced by the fluctuated, low-level noise via repeated exposure (90 dBA, 122 hours), which is roughly equal in total energy to the 106 dB 2-hour noise. This hypothesis was based on previous studies suggesting that the "equal energy" hypothesis does not work for noise-induced synaptic loss (Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; Maison et al., 2013). (2) The noise exposure in this study would impair temporal processing, which would hinder the ability of the animals with NIS to detect signals in fluctuated maskers would be smaller in subjects tested after the noise exposure. This hypothesis was made based upon the fact that animals can use temporal cues to encode signals under masking. This is shown by a much smaller masking effect by the fluctuated masker compared to the

stationary masker. Further, should this ability be deteriorated by NIS without PTS, the difference in masking effect between the two maskers would be reduced in subjects with the NIS. This prediction is based upon two assumptions about the effect of masking in the subjects with the NIS: (i) the masking effect of the stationary masker would not be changed by the NIS, (ii) the masking effect by the fluctuated masker would be increased. (3) The fluctuation in the response of the ANFs plays an important role in activating MOC control on OHC function. This would be indicated by fluctuated CS signals producing a stronger CS effect as compared to the stationary CS stimulation, and by an increase of CS effect with decreasing sound level when a fluctuated CS signal is used.

The major findings of the present study include: (1) Significantly less synaptic loss occurred by the fluctuated, repeated noise exposure at low level in the present study as compared to the loss after a brief high-level noise used in previous studies (Figure 8). However, it is likely that the noise exposure in the present study did cause NIS without PTS. (2) Temporal processing deficits were seen in scalp EFR as indicated by (i) the reduced overall amplitude, (ii) a larger drop off of EFR with increasing MFs (Figure 9). However, such changes were not seen in nfEFR, suggesting a central origin of the changes in the scalp EFR. (3) Overall, the masking effect of the fluctuated masker was smaller than that of the stationary masker in both the control recording and in the tests after the NIS was established. Since the comparison was done using the same signal-tonoise ratio in both masking conditions, the result suggests that animals can use temporal dips to detect an AM signal under masking. However, in the measurement of scalp EFR, in which deterioration of temporal processing was evident, the NIS did not result in changes to the masking effect difference between the two maskers, as predicted by our

hypothesis. We also noticed an increased masking effect by the two maskers in the test with the subjects with NIS, conflicting with our assumption that the masking effect of the stationary noise would remain unchanged in the subjects with the NIS. The increase in the masking effect is parallel between the two maskers in the NIS subjects as compared with the control recording before the noise exposure. On the other hand, the masking effect difference in nfEFR was larger in the nfEFR of the noise group, which was also opposite to our hypothesis. These results did not provide clear evidence supporting the connection between temporal processing disorders and CIND. (4) There was no evidence supporting the importance of fluctuated input in ANFs to the MOC regulation on OHC functions. This was indicated by the lack of difference in CS effect between stationary and fluctuated CS signals as well as the fact that the CS effect was always larger with a higher level of CS, regardless of whether the CS signal was fluctuated or stationary. These results are discussed in detail below.

4.1 Can NIS be established using noise exposure like what is experienced by humans?

There are two main factors to consider when quantifying NIS accompanied by NIHHL. First, the damage to and loss of the afferent synapses between the IHCs and the SGNs. Second, the absence of PTS. In the present study, PTS was absent as indicated by the full recovery of the ABR thresholds. First, it was determined that there was no impact of age, which was evident by the overlapped threshold-frequency curves within the control group between the two time points tested (Ctrl-young and Ctrl-old, Figure 6). Further, although the Post-noise ABR thresholds were visually elevated at 8 kHz, a two-way ANOVA

against the factors of test time and frequency (within the noise group) deemed this elevation insignificant.

It was also determined that the noise exposure used in this study (multi-talker noise at 90 dBA, 122 hours) did cause permanent synaptic loss, although significantly less so compared to the brief high-level noise delivered in a single dose in previous studies (106 dB, 2 hours). This was determined by the synapse density observation, which showed that the average density in the subjects exposed to the brief noise (Noise 1) in a previous study dropped by 16% compared to the control group, while the group exposed to noise in the current study (Noise 2) dropped only by 6.2% compared to the control group. Further, post-hoc pairwise tests following the one-way ANOVA on rank showed a significant difference between the groups of Ctrl and Noise 1 and between the groups of Noise 1 and Noise 2, but not between the groups of Ctrl and Noise 2. These results were expected according to the idea that the "equal energy" hypothesis does not work for noise-induced synaptic loss. Although the 6.2% drop in the synaptic density in the present study was not statistically significant, we do think that NIS was established. This is supported by the fact that the initial synaptic loss, if evaluated shortly after noise exposure, is much larger than the permanent loss that is evaluated weeks after the noise exposure due to the synapses' ability to self-repair, as reported in previous studies (L. Liu et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2013; Song et al., 2016). For example, in the study from which the synaptic count data was borrowed in this thesis, the initial loss of the ribbon synapses was ~50%. The synaptic loss was reduced to ~16%, which is 1/3 of the initial loss. If such ratio remains the case in the present study, then the initial loss would be close to 20%. The existence of the NIS in the present study is also supported by the possibility that the

repaired synapses may not be completely healthy. Rather, some coding deficits may exist in association with the recovery of the synaptic count (Chen, Shi, et al., 2019; L. Liu et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2013; Song et al., 2016). Further, functional deficits were also observed in the present study. Therefore, it is likely that the noise exposure did cause NIS without PTS by way of damage to the synapses.

4.2 Temporal processing impairment: was it present and did it cause CIND?

4.2.1 Evidence of temporal processing deficits as indicated by TMTFs

To address the question of whether temporal processing was impaired after the noise exposure given in this study, the TMTFs of both EFR and nfEFR were examined for signals modulated at 30% and 60% MD. Initially, a visual inspection of the EFR TMTFs indicated that there was a drop in the TMTF of the group exposed to the noise compared to the control group, largest at the MF of 1213 Hz. A Mann-Whitney Rank Sum Test performed at this MF showed a significant difference between the Ctrl-old and Post-noise data sets for the 30% MD signal only (Figure 9A). This suggests that temporal processing deficits were present as the result of the NIS. Change in the far-field EFR TMTF by noise was also reported in mice in the study by Shaheen et al. (2015) outlined in Section 1.3.3, which showed band-pass TMTFs with a peak close to 1000 Hz MF. The ANF origin of this peak response was supported by its disappearance (or reduction) following the establishment of NIS. However, in the present study, the TMTFs of guinea pigs appeared to be low-pass in nature. In addition to the species difference, the EFRs in the study by Shaheen et al. (2015) were evaluated with an AM signal at 100% modulation, and the NIS in that study was much more severe than in the present report.

The negative result at 60% MD (Figure 9B) supports the idea that functional impairment of L/MSR ANFs is responsible for the described deficits. This is due to the idea that HSR ANFs are unable to phase lock to a high-level signal with a small MD because the amplitude fluctuation is in the range of sound where the rate-level functions of the HSR ANFs are saturated (Bharadwaj et al., 2014). Thus, since the results showed temporal processing deficits for the 30% MD signal only, the L/MSR ANFs must have been impaired, because HSR ANFs could not have phase-locked to such signal, because the small fluctuation of the sound level is in the range of the saturation of those ANFs when the AM signal is presented at 75 dB SPL. Conversely, the larger MD of 60% could have been coded by the HSR ANFs because the larger AM fluctuation causes the sound level change to be in the range where these ANFs are not saturated.

As for the nfEFR TMTFs, different results were obtained compared to those of the EFR TMTFs. At both MDs, the TMTFs from the two groups were largely overlapped, suggesting that the difference between groups shown by the EFR TMTFs (Figure 10A and 10B) is likely an indication of a central origin for the temporal processing deficits seen in EFR.

4.2.2 Stationary versus fluctuated masking effects on EFR and nfEFR

Testing signal perception or coding with masking present is one of the most common ways to evaluate hearing in noise. To assess the ability of signal coding in noise using temporal cues, the masker should be temporally fluctuated to allow for the detection of signal in the temporal dips of the masker. However, this parameter has been ignored or has been evaluated in a noncomprehensive manner in previous studies (Chen, Xing, et al., 2019; Ralli et al., 2019; Souchal et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020). In the present study, the

magnitude of the masking effect by a stationary masker was compared to that of a fluctuated masker. It was hypothesized that if NIS without PTS reduces the ability to detect signal in the dips of a masker, the masking effect by the fluctuated masker would be increased so that the difference between the two maskers would be decreased. However, this was not the case in the present study: the masking effect by both maskers on EFR were increased as tested at the old age in both groups (aside from a small decrease at the old age in the control group with the stationary masker), although the increases were not statistically significant (Figure 11A and 11B). The near-parallel increases in the masking effect by the NIS resulted in no significant between-masker difference across the groups in EFR (Figure 11C). In nfEFR, a similar trend was seen with the parallel increases of the masking effect by the NIS in comparing the two maskers. This rejects our assumption that the masking effect by the stationary masker would not be changed by the NIS. Although the similar increase of the masking effect between the maskers by the NIS was seen in nfEFR (Figure 11D and 11E, showing the larger attenuation of nfEFR by the masking), a larger, rather than smaller, betweenmasker difference was seen in the subjects with the NIS (Figure 11F). This is opposite to the hypothesis that the NIS would deteriorate signal detection using temporal cues (which should be evident from a largely increased masking effect by the fluctuated masker) and therefore reduce the between-masker difference. Therefore, the present study shows no clear evidence to suggest that NIS deteriorates the signal detection ability in noise using temporal cues. It is important to note that the amplitudes of nfEFR were reduced in the subjects with the NIS (shown in Figure 11D and 11E as the larger attenuation in the Postnoise data). This is consistent with previous studies using high-level noise exposure

(Chen, Xing, et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020), although the synaptic loss in the present study was much less. A question that remains to be explored in future work is whether a larger increase in the masking effect by the temporally fluctuated masker would be seen in subjects with more severe NIS than what was established in the present study.

4.3 Did CS on CAP reveal the importance of the fluctuation profile of ANFs in the MOC EAR?

CS on CAP was compared across stationary and fluctuated CS signals to verify our hypothesis that extended from the fluctuation profile model and the suggested role of the fluctuation in MOC control of cochlear function, as reviewed by Carney (2018). In the fluctuation model, ANFs around formant peaks have smaller or no fluctuation due to saturation and therefore would produce less excitation of MOC neurons, resulting in less gain reduction. If the fluctuation is critical in the MOC control, then a fluctuated stimulus (such as an AM signal) would produce a stronger gain reduction via MOC feedback, which should be testable by contralateral suppression (CS) on CAP.

The results of the present study did not show a significant difference in the CS effect between the stationary and fluctuated CS signals (Figure 13A, 13B, and 13C). Furthermore, the CS effect was always larger by a higher level of CS signal, which is opposite to the prediction by the fluctuation profile model (Carney, 2018). It is also worth noting that the CS effects were not reduced but rather increased in the noise group; suggesting that the NIS did not impair MOC regulation on cochlear gain (Figure 13D).

Overall, these results provide no evidence supporting the MOC regulation in the fluctuation profile model. However, this negative result may not be sufficient to fully reject the role of temporal fluctuation in the efferent control mediated by MOC neurons.

It is likely that the feedback loop relying upon average rate, rather than fluctuation, exists. It is therefore difficult to uncover the role of fluctuation in the MOC efferent from a loop that does not require fluctuation.

4.4 Conclusion

The present study showed that the fluctuated, intermittent noise exposure experienced by humans in daily life is less effective in causing NIS without PTS. It was also demonstrated that NIS without PTS and NIHHL may not be as problematic as previously thought. Considering the smaller amount of NIS established by the noise exposure in this study, the observed temporal processing dysfunction may have been limited and not reflective of NIS and NIHHL that is possible with a stronger noise exposure. Notably, while temporal processing deficits were seen in the far-field EFR TMTF, corresponding changes to the nfEFR TMTF were not seen, suggesting a central origin for the temporal processing changes. Conversely, only the near-field measures of the effect of masking on EFR revealed a greater masking effect with NIS, suggesting a peripheral origin for this effect along with central compensation. This result devalues the effectiveness of far-field EFR in assessing the coding deficits associated with NIS. Furthermore, the observed temporal processing deficits did not appear to be related to the masking effect, given the different origins and the lack of any significant difference between the masking effect found with a stationary versus fluctuated masker. The role of the temporal processing deficits in CIND should be evaluated in more detail in subjects with more severe NIS without PTS. Finally, the results of CS on CAP did not support the role of temporal fluctuation in the MOC efferent control on cochlear gain.

REFERENCES

- Abdala, C. (1996). Distortion product otoacoustic emission (2 f1–f2) amplitude as a function of f2/f1 frequency ratio and primary tone level separation in human adults and neonates. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *100*(6), 3726–3740. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.417234
- Adams, J. C. (1995). Sound stimulation induces Fos-related antigens in cells with common morphological properties throughout the auditory brainstem. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 361(4), 645–668. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903610408
- Alvord, L. S. (1983). Cochlear Dysfunction in "Normal-Hearing" Patients with History of Noise Exposure: *Ear and Hearing*, 4(5), 247–250.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00003446-198309000-00005
- Atcherson, S. R., Martin, M. J., & Lintvedt, R. (2008). Contralateral noise has possible asymmetric frequency-sensitive effect on the 2F1-F2 otoacoustic emission in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 438(1), 107–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.04.050
- Barlow, C., & Castilla-Sanchez, F. (2012). Occupational noise exposure and regulatory adherence in music venues in the United Kingdom. *Noise and Health*, 14(57), 86. https://doi.org/10.4103/1463-1741.95137
- Basner, M., Babisch, W., Davis, A., Brink, M., Clark, C., Janssen, S., & Stansfeld, S. (2014). Auditory and non-auditory effects of noise on health. *The Lancet*, 383(9925), 1325–1332. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61613-X
- Berger, E. H., Royster, L. H., & Thomas, W. G. (1978). Presumed noise-induced permanent threshold shift resulting from exposure to an A -weighted L_{eq} of 89
dB. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 64(1), 192–197. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.381984

Bharadwaj, H. M., Masud, S., Mehraei, G., Verhulst, S., & Shinn-Cunningham, B. G. (2015). Individual Differences Reveal Correlates of Hidden Hearing Deficits. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(5), 2161–2172.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3915-14.2015

- Bharadwaj, H. M., Verhulst, S., Shaheen, L., Liberman, M. C., & Shinn-Cunningham, B.
 G. (2014). Cochlear neuropathy and the coding of supra-threshold sound. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00026
- Bourien, J., Tang, Y., Batrel, C., Huet, A., Lenoir, M., Ladrech, S., Desmadryl, G.,
 Nouvian, R., Puel, J.-L., & Wang, J. (2014). Contribution of auditory nerve fibers to compound action potential of the auditory nerve. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *112*(5), 1025–1039. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00738.2013
- Büki, B., Wit, H. P., & Avan, P. (2000). Olivocochlear efferent vs. Middle-ear contributions to the alteration of otoacoustic emissions by contralateral noise. *Brain Research*, 852(1), 140–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)02227-1
- Buran, B. N., Strenzke, N., Neef, A., Gundelfinger, E. D., Moser, T., & Liberman, M. C. (2010). Onset Coding Is Degraded in Auditory Nerve Fibers from Mutant Mice Lacking Synaptic Ribbons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(22), 7587–7597. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0389-10.2010
- Burkard, R., & Hecox, K. (1983). The effect of broadband noise on the human brainstem auditory evoked response. I. Rate and intensity effects. *The Journal of the*

Acoustical Society of America, 74(4), 1204–1213.

https://doi.org/10.1121/1.390024

- C. Kohrman, D., Wan, G., Cassinotti, L., & Corfas, G. (2020). Hidden Hearing Loss: A Disorder with Multiple Etiologies and Mechanisms. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, *10*(1), a035493. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a035493
- Carney, L. H. (2018). Supra-Threshold Hearing and Fluctuation Profiles: Implications for Sensorineural and Hidden Hearing Loss. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *19*(4), 331–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-018-0669-5
- Carney, L. H., Kim, D. O., & Kuwada, S. (2016). Speech Coding in the Midbrain: Effects of Sensorineural Hearing Loss. *Physiology, Psychoacoustics and Cognition in Normal and Impaired Hearing*, 894, 427–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-25474-6
- Chabert, R., Magnan, J., Lallemant, J., Uziel, A., & Puel, J. (2002). Contralateral Sound Stimulation Suppresses the Compound Action Potential from the Auditory Nerve in Humans: *Otology & Neurotology*, *23*(5), 784–788. https://doi.org/10.1097/00129492-200209000-00029
- Chambers, A. R., Hancock, K. E., Maison, S. F., Liberman, M. C., & Polley, D. B.
 (2012). Sound-Evoked Olivocochlear Activation in Unanesthetized Mice. *Journal* of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 13(2), 209–217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-011-0306-z

Chen, H., Shi, L., Liu, L., Yin, S., Aiken, S., & Wang, J. (2019). Noise-induced Cochlear Synaptopathy and Signal Processing Disorders. *Neuroscience*, 407, 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.09.026

Chen, H., Xing, Y., Zhang, Z., Tao, S., Wang, H., Aiken, S., Yin, S., Yu, D., & Wang, J. (2019). Coding-in-Noise Deficits are Not Seen in Responses to Amplitude Modulation in Subjects with cochlear Synaptopathy Induced by a Single Noise Exposure. *Neuroscience*, 400, 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.12.048

- Chéry-Croze, S., Moulin, A., & Collet, L. (1993). Effect of contralateral sound stimulation on the distortion product 2f1–f2 in humans: Evidence of a frequency specificity. *Hearing Research*, 68(1), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(93)90064-8
- Costalupes, J. A. (1985). Representation of tones in noise in the responses of auditory nerve fibers in cats. I. Comparison with detection thresholds. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *5*(12), 3261–3269.
- Costalupes, J. A., Young, E. D., & Gibson, D. J. (1984). Effects of continuous noise backgrounds on rate response of auditory nerve fibers in cat. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 51(6), 1326–1344. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1984.51.6.1326
- Danesh, A. A., & Kaf, W. A. (2012). DPOAEs and contralateral acoustic stimulation and their link to sound hypersensitivity in children with autism. *International Journal* of Audiology, 51(4), 345–352. https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2011.626202
- De Siati, R. D., Rosenzweig, F., Gersdorff, G., Gregoire, A., Rombaux, P., & Deggouj, N. (2020). Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorders: From Diagnosis to

Treatment: Literature Review and Case Reports. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(4), 1074. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9041074

- Delgutte, B. (1996). Physiological Models for Basic Auditory Percepts. In H. L.
 Hawkins, T. A. McMullen, A. N. Popper, & R. R. Fay (Eds.), *Auditory Computation* (pp. 157–220). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-40709_5
- Dorman, M. F., Loizou, P. C., & Rainey, D. (1997). Simulating the effect of cochlearimplant electrode insertion depth on speech understanding. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *102*(5), 2993–2996.

https://doi.org/10.1121/1.420354

- Fan, L., Zhang, Z., Wang, H., Li, C., Xing, Y., Yin, S., Chen, Z., & Wang, J. (2020). Preexposure to Lower-Level Noise Mitigates Cochlear Synaptic Loss Induced by High-Level Noise. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 14, 25. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2020.00025
- Fucci, D., McColl, D., Bond, Z., & Stockmal, V. (1997). Magnitude-Estimation Scaling of Complex Auditory Stimuli: Native and Nonnative Languages. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 85(3_suppl), 1468–1470.

https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1997.85.3f.1468

Fucci, D., Petrosino, L., McColl, D., Wyatt, D., & Wilcox, C. (1997). Magnitude
Estimation Scaling of the Loudness of a Wide Range of Auditory Stimuli. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 85(3), 1059–1066.
https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1997.85.3.1059

- Fulbright, A. N. C., Le Prell, C. G., Griffiths, S. K., & Lobarinas, E. (2017). Effects of Recreational Noise on Threshold and Suprathreshold Measures of Auditory Function. *Seminars in Hearing*, 38(4), 298–318. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1606325
- Furman, A. C., Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2013). Noise-induced cochlear neuropathy is selective for fibers with low spontaneous rates. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *110*(3), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00164.2013
- Ghoshal, S., & Kim, D. O. (1996). Marginal shell of the anteroventral cochlear nucleus: Intensity coding in single units of the unanesthetized, decerebrate cat. *Neuroscience Letters*, 205(2), 71–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(96)12386-7
- Gifford, M. L., & Guinan, J. J. (1987). Effects of electrical stimulation of medial olivocochlear neurons on ipsilateral and contralateral cochlear responses. *Hearing Research*, 29(2), 179–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(87)90166-3
- Gilles, A., Schlee, W., Rabau, S., Wouters, K., Fransen, E., & Van de Heyning, P.
 (2016). Decreased Speech-In-Noise Understanding in Young Adults with
 Tinnitus. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00288
- Gordon-Salant, S. (2005). Hearing loss and aging: New research findings and clinical implications. *The Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 42(4s), 9. https://doi.org/10.1682/JRRD.2005.01.0006
- Grinn, S. K., Wiseman, K. B., Baker, J. A., & Le Prell, C. G. (2017). Hidden Hearing Loss? No Effect of Common Recreational Noise Exposure on Cochlear Nerve

Response Amplitude in Humans. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *11*, 465. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00465

- Grose, J. H., Buss, E., & Elmore, H. (2019). Age-Related Changes in the Auditory
 Brainstem Response and Suprathreshold Processing of Temporal and Spectral
 Modulation. *Trends in Hearing*, 23, 2331216519839615.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216519839615
- Grose, J. H., Buss, E., & Hall, J. W. (2017). Loud Music Exposure and Cochlear Synaptopathy in Young Adults: Isolated Auditory Brainstem Response Effects but No Perceptual Consequences. *Trends in Hearing*, 21, 233121651773741. https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216517737417
- Guest, H., Munro, K. J., Prendergast, G., Millman, R. E., & Plack, C. J. (2018). Impaired speech perception in noise with a normal audiogram: No evidence for cochlear synaptopathy and no relation to lifetime noise exposure. *Hearing Research*, 364, 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2018.03.008
- Guinan, J. J. (2006). Olivocochlear Efferents: Anatomy, Physiology, Function, and the Measurement of Efferent Effects in Humans: *Ear and Hearing*, 27(6), 589–607. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.aud.0000240507.83072.e7
- Guinan, J. J. (2018). Olivocochlear efferents: Their action, effects, measurement and uses, and the impact of the new conception of cochlear mechanical responses.
 Hearing Research, 362, 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2017.12.012
- Guinan, J. J., Warr, W. B., & Norris, B. E. (1983). Differential olivocochlear projections from lateral versus medial zones of the superior olivary complex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 221(3), 358–370. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902210310

- Gummer, M., Yates, G. K., & Johnstone, B. M. (1988). Modulation transfer function of efferent neurones in the guinea pig cochlea. *Hearing Research*, 36(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(88)90136-0
- Heinz, M. G., Colburn, H. S., & Carney, L. H. (2001). Evaluating Auditory Performance Limits: I. One-Parameter Discrimination Using a Computational Model for the Auditory Nerve. *Neural Computation*, *13*(10), 2273–2316. https://doi.org/10.1162/089976601750541804
- Herdman, A. T., Lins, O., Roon, P. V., Stapells, D. R., & al, et. (2002). Intracerebral sources of human auditory steady-state responses. *Brain Topography*, 15(2), 69– 86.
- Hesse, G., & Kastellis, G. (2019). "Hidden hearing loss" Schäden der Hörverarbeitung auch bei niederschwelliger Lärmbelastung? *HNO*, 67(6), 417–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00106-019-0640-8
- Hirsh, I. J. (1959). Auditory Perception of Temporal Order. 10.
- Huet, A., Batrel, C., Wang, J., Desmadryl, G., Nouvian, R., Puel, J. L., & Bourien, J. (2019). Sound Coding in the Auditory Nerve: From Single Fiber Activity to Cochlear Mass Potentials in Gerbils. *Neuroscience*, 407, 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.10.010
- Humes, L. E., Dubno, J. R., Gordon-Salant, S., Lister, J. J., Cacace, A. T., Cruickshanks,
 K. J., Gates, G. A., Wilson, R. H., & Wingfield, A. (2012). Central Presbycusis: A
 Review and Evaluation of the Evidence. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 23(08), 635–666. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.23.8.5

- Ivory, R., Kane, R., & Diaz, R. C. (2014). Noise-induced hearing loss: A recreational noise perspective. *Current Opinion in Otolaryngology & Head and Neck Surgery*, 22(5), 394–398. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOO.00000000000085
- Jackson, B. S., & Carney, L. H. (2005). The Spontaneous-Rate Histogram of the Auditory Nerve Can Be Explained by Only Two or Three Spontaneous Rates and Long-Range Dependence. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 6(2), 148–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-005-5045-6
- Jacobson, M., Kim, S., Romney, J., Zhu, X., & Frisina, R. D. (2003). Contralateral suppression of distortion-product otoacoustic emissions declines with age: A comparison of findings in CBA mice with human listeners. *The Laryngoscope*, *113*(10), 1707–1713. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005537-200310000-00009
- Jagniatinskis, A., Fiks, B., Zaporozhets, O., & Mickaitis, M. (2017). Annual Assessment of Noise Generated by Road Traffic using Measurements. *Procedia Engineering*, 187, 614–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.04.421
- Jing, Z., Rutherford, M. A., Takago, H., Frank, T., Fejtova, A., Khimich, D., Moser, T., & Strenzke, N. (2013). Disruption of the Presynaptic Cytomatrix Protein Bassoon Degrades Ribbon Anchorage, Multiquantal Release, and Sound Encoding at the Hair Cell Afferent Synapse. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(10), 4456–4467. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3491-12.2013
- Johnson, D. H. (1980). The relationship between spike rate and synchrony in responses of auditory-nerve fibers to single tones. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 68(4), 1115–1122. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.384982

- Joris, P. X., Schreiner, C. E., & Rees, A. (2004). Neural Processing of Amplitude-Modulated Sounds. *Physiological Reviews*, 84(2), 541–577. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00029.2003
- Joris, P. X., & Yin, T. C. T. (1992). Responses to amplitude-modulated tones in the auditory nerve of the cat. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 91(1), 215–232. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.402757
- Kaur, T., Clayman, A. C., Nash, A. J., Schrader, A. D., Warchol, M. E., & Ohlemiller, K.
 K. (2019). Lack of Fractalkine Receptor on Macrophages Impairs Spontaneous
 Recovery of Ribbon Synapses After Moderate Noise Trauma in C57BL/6 Mice. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, 620. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00620
- Kawase, T., & Liberman, M. C. (1993). Antimasking effects of the olivocochlear reflex.
 I. Enhancement of compound action potentials to masked tones. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 70(6), 2519–2532. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1993.70.6.2519
- Kidd Jr., G., Mason, C. R., Brantley, M. A., & Owen, G. A. (1989). Roving-level tone-in-noise detection. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 86(4), 1310–1317. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.398745
- Kim, K. X., Payne, S., Yang-Hood, A., Li, S.-Z., Davis, B., Carlquist, J., V-Ghaffari, B., Gantz, J. A., Kallogjeri, D., Fitzpatrick, J. A. J., Ohlemiller, K. K., Hirose, K., & Rutherford, M. A. (2019). Vesicular Glutamatergic Transmission in Noise-Induced Loss and Repair of Cochlear Ribbon Synapses. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *39*(23), 4434–4447. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2228-18.2019

- Kobel, M., Le Prell, C. G., Liu, J., Hawks, J. W., & Bao, J. (2017). Noise-induced cochlear synaptopathy: Past findings and future studies. *Hearing Research*, 349, 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2016.12.008
- Komazec, Z., Filipović, D., & Milošević, D. (2003). Contralateral acoustic suppression of transient evoked otoacoustic emissions: Activation of the medial olivocochlear system. *Medicinski Pregled*, 56(3–4), 124–130.
- Krishna, B. S., & Semple, M. N. (2000). Auditory Temporal Processing: Responses to Sinusoidally Amplitude-Modulated Tones in the Inferior Colliculus. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 84(1), 255–273. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.84.1.255
- Kujala, T., Shtyrov, Y., Winkler, I., Saher, M., Tervaniemi, M., Sallinen, M., Teder-Sälejärvi, W., Alho, K., Reinikainen, K., & Näätänen, R. (2004). Long-term exposure to noise impairs cortical sound processing and attention control. *Psychophysiology*, *41*(6), 875–881. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2004.00244.x
- Kujawa, S. G., Glattke, T. J., Fallon, M., & Bobbin, R. P. (1993). Contralateral sound suppresses distortion product otoacoustic emissions through cholinergic mechanisms. *Hearing Research*, 68(1), 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(93)90068-C
- Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2009). Adding Insult to Injury: Cochlear Nerve
 Degeneration after "Temporary" Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(45), 14077–14085. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2845-09.2009

- Kumar, A. U., & Jayaram, M. (2005). Auditory processing in individuals with auditory neuropathy. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 1(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-1-21
- Kumar, U., Ameenudin, S., & Sangamanatha, A. (2012). Temporal and speech processing skills in normal hearing individuals exposed to occupational noise. *Noise & Health*, *14*(58), 100–105.

http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.4103/1463-1741.97252

- Kuwada, S., Anderson, J. S., Batra, R., Fitzpatrick, D. C., Teissier, N., & D'Angelo, W.
 R. (2002). Sources of the Scalp-Recorded Amplitude-Modulation Following
 Response. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, *13*(4), 17.
- Lang, H., Li, M., Kilpatrick, L. A., Zhu, J., Samuvel, D. J., Krug, E. L., & Goddard, J. C. (2011). Sox2 Up-regulation and Glial Cell Proliferation Following Degeneration of Spiral Ganglion Neurons in the Adult Mouse Inner Ear. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *12*(2), 151–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-010-0244-1
- Le Prell, C. G., & Clavier, O. H. (2017). Effects of noise on speech recognition: Challenges for communication by service members. *Hearing Research*, *349*, 76– 89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2016.10.004
- Leake, P. A., & Snyder, R. L. (1989). Topographic organization of the central projections of the spiral ganglion in cats. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 281(4), 612–629. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902810410
- Leshowitz, B. (1971). Measurement of the Two-Click Threshold. 6.

- Liberman, M. (1982). Single-neuron labeling in the cat auditory nerve. *Science*, *216*(4551), 1239–1241. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7079757
- Liberman, M. C. (1978). Auditory-nerve response from cats raised in a low-noise chamber. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 63(2), 442–455. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.381736
- Liberman, M. C. (1991). Central projections of auditory-nerve fibers of differing spontaneous rate. I. Anteroventral cochlear nucleus. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *313*(2), 240–258. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903130205
- Liberman, M. C. (2015). Hidden Hearing Loss. *Scientific American*, *313*(2), 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0815-48
- Liberman, M. C. (2017). Noise-induced and age-related hearing loss: New perspectives and potential therapies. *F1000Research*, 6.

https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.11310.1

- Liberman, M. C., & Beil, D. G. (1979). Hair Cell Condition and Auditory Nerve Response in Normal and Noise-Damaged Cochleas. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, 88(1–6), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016487909137156
- Liberman, M. C., & Brown, M. C. (1986). Physiology and anatomy of single olivocochlear neurons in the cat. *Hearing Research*, 24(1), 17–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(86)90003-1
- Liberman, M. C., Epstein, M. J., Cleveland, S. S., Wang, H., & Maison, S. F. (2016).
 Toward a Differential Diagnosis of Hidden Hearing Loss in Humans. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(9), e0162726. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0162726

- Liberman, M. C., & Kujawa, S. G. (2017). Cochlear synaptopathy in acquired sensorineural hearing loss: Manifestations and mechanisms. *Hearing Research*, 349, 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2017.01.003
- Lie, A., Skogstad, M., Johannessen, H. A., Tynes, T., Mehlum, I. S., Nordby, K.-C., Engdahl, B., & Tambs, K. (2016). Occupational noise exposure and hearing: A systematic review. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 89(3), 351–372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-015-1083-5
- Liu, H., Lu, J., Wang, Z., Song, L., Wang, X., Li, G.-L., & Wu, H. (2019). Functional alteration of ribbon synapses in inner hair cells by noise exposure causing hidden hearing loss. *Neuroscience Letters*, 707, 134268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2019.05.022
- Liu, L., Wang, H., Shi, L., Almuklass, A., He, T., Aiken, S., Bance, M., Yin, S., & Wang, J. (2012). Silent Damage of Noise on Cochlear Afferent Innervation in Guinea
 Pigs and the Impact on Temporal Processing. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), e49550.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049550
- Lobarinas, E., Salvi, R., & Ding, D. (2020). Gap Detection Deficits in Chinchillas with Selective Carboplatin-Induced Inner Hair Cell Loss. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *21*(6), 475–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-020-00744-5
- Lobarinas, E., Spankovich, C., & Le Prell, C. G. (2017). Evidence of "hidden hearing loss" following noise exposures that produce robust TTS and ABR wave-I amplitude reductions. *Hearing Research*, *349*, 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2016.12.009

- Maison, S., Adams, J. C., & Liberman, M. C. (2003). Olivocochlear innervation in the mouse: Immunocytochemical maps, crossed versus uncrossed contributions, and transmitter colocalization. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 455(3), 406–416. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10490
- Maison, S., Micheyl, C., & Collet, L. (1997). Medial Olivocochlear Efferent System in Humans Studied With Amplitude-Modulated Tones. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 77(4), 1759–1768. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1997.77.4.1759
- Maison, S., Usubuchi, H., & Liberman, M. C. (2013). Efferent Feedback Minimizes
 Cochlear Neuropathy from Moderate Noise Exposure. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(13), 5542–5552. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5027-12.2013
- Makary, C. A., Shin, J., Kujawa, S. G., Liberman, M. C., & Merchant, S. N. (2011). Age-Related Primary Cochlear Neuronal Degeneration in Human Temporal Bones. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *12*(6), 711–717. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-011-0283-2
- Martin, J. S., & Jerger, J. F. (2005). Some effects of aging on central auditory processing.
 The Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development, 42(4s), 25.
 https://doi.org/10.1682/JRRD.2004.12.0164
- Masullo, M., Lenzuni, P., Maffei, L., Nataletti, P., Ciaburro, G., Annesi, D., &
 Moschetto, A. (2016). Assessment of noise exposure for basketball sports
 referees. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, *13*(6), 464–475.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15459624.2016.1143947
- May, B. J., & McQuone, S. J. (1995). Effects of Bilateral Olivocochlear Lesions on Pure-Tone Intensity Discrimination in Cats. *Auditory Neuroscience*, 1(4), 385–400.

- Meehan, A., Hebert, D., Deru, K., & Weaver, L. K. (2019). Hidden hearing deficits in military service members with persistent post concussive symptoms. *Undersea & Hyperbaric Medicine: Journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc*, 46(3), 251–260.
- Mehraei, G., Hickox, A. E., Bharadwaj, H. M., Goldberg, H., Verhulst, S., Liberman, M. C., & Shinn-Cunningham, B. G. (2016). Auditory Brainstem Response Latency in Noise as a Marker of Cochlear Synaptopathy. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *36*(13), 3755–3764. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4460-15.2016
- Mertes, I. B., Wilbanks, E. C., & Leek, M. R. (2018). Olivocochlear Efferent Activity Is Associated With the Slope of the Psychometric Function of Speech Recognition in Noise. *Ear & Hearing*, 39(3), 583–593.

https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000514

- Moore, B. C. J. (1993). Temporal Analysis in Normal and Impaired Hearing. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 682(1), 119–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1993.tb22964.x
- Moser, T., Neef, A., & Khimich, D. (2006). Mechanisms underlying the temporal precision of sound coding at the inner hair cell ribbon synapse. *The Journal of Physiology*, *576*(1), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.114835
- Moser, T., & Starr, A. (2016). Auditory neuropathy—Neural and synaptic mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 12(3), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2016.10

- Moulin, A., Collet, L., & Duclaux, R. (1993). Contralateral auditory stimulation alters acoustic distortion products in humans. *Hearing Research*, 65(1), 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(93)90213-K
- Münzel, T., Center for Cardiology, University Medical Center Mainz, Mainz, Germany,
 Sørensen, M., & Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark.
 (2017). Noise Pollution and Arterial Hypertension. *European Cardiology Review*, *12*(1), 26. https://doi.org/10.15420/ecr.2016:31:2
- Münzel, T., Kröller-Schön, S., Oelze, M., Gori, T., Schmidt, F. P., Steven, S., Hahad, O., Röösli, M., Wunderli, J.-M., Daiber, A., & Sørensen, M. (2020). Adverse Cardiovascular Effects of Traffic Noise with a Focus on Nighttime Noise and the New WHO Noise Guidelines. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *41*(1), 309–328. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-081519-062400
- Najem, F., Ferraro, J., & Chertoff, M. (2016). The Effect of Contralateral Pure Tones on the Compound Action Potential in Humans: Efferent Tuning Curves. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, 27(2), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.15002
- Nakashima, A., & Farinaccio, R. (2015). Review of Weapon Noise Measurement and Damage Risk Criteria: Considerations for Auditory Protection and Performance. *Military Medicine*, 180(4), 402–408. https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-14-00204
- Narne, V. K. (2013). Temporal Processing and Speech Perception in Noise by Listeners with Auditory Neuropathy. *PLoS ONE*, 8(2), e55995. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055995

Nieder, P., & Nieder, I. (1970). Stimulation of Efferent Olivocochlear Bundle causes Release from Low Level Masking. *Nature*, *227*(5254), 184–185. https://doi.org/10.1038/227184a0

Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Ristovska, G., & Dadvand, P. (2017). WHO Environmental Noise Guidelines for the European Region: A Systematic Review on Environmental Noise and Adverse Birth Outcomes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(10), 1252.
https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14101252

- Oiamo, T. H., Davies, H., Rainham, D., & Rinner, C. (2017). *ENVIRONMENTAL NOISE STUDY IN THE CITY OF TORONTO*. 31.
- Palmer, A. R., & Russell, I. J. (1986). *Phase-locking in the cochlear nerve of the guineapig and its relation to the receptor potential of inner hair-cells.* 15.
- Parthasarathy, A. (2012). Two-channel recording of auditory-evoked potentials to detect age-related deficits in temporal processing. *Hearing Research*, 11.

Parthasarathy, A., Bartlett, E. L., & Kujawa, S. G. (2019). Age-related Changes in Neural Coding of Envelope Cues: Peripheral Declines and Central Compensation. *Neuroscience*, 407, 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.12.007

Parthasarathy, A., & Kujawa, S. G. (2018). Synaptopathy in the Aging Cochlea:
Characterizing Early-Neural Deficits in Auditory Temporal Envelope Processing. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(32), 7108–7119.
https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3240-17.2018

- Patterson, R. D., & Moore, B. C. J. (1986). Auditory filters and excitation patterns as representations of frequency resolution. *Frequency Selectivity in Hearing*. https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10017593856/
- Paul, B. T., Bruce, I. C., & Roberts, L. E. (2017). Evidence that hidden hearing loss underlies amplitude modulation encoding deficits in individuals with and without tinnitus. *Hearing Research*, 344, 170–182.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2016.11.010

Pfannenstiel, T. J. (2014). Noise-induced hearing loss: A military perspective. *Current Opinion in Otolaryngology & Head and Neck Surgery*, 22(5), 384–387. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOO.00000000000083

- Pichora-Fuller, M. K., & Souza, P. E. (2003). Effects of aging on auditory processing of speech. *International Journal of Audiology*, 42(Suppl2), 2S11-2S16.
- Picton, T., John, M., Dimitrijevic, A., & Purcell, D. (2003). Human auditory steady-state responses. *International Journal of Audiology*, 42(4), 177–219. https://doi.org/10.3109/14992020309101316
- Plack, C. J., Barker, D., & Prendergast, G. (2014). Perceptual Consequences of "Hidden" Hearing Loss. *Trends in Hearing*, 18, 2331216514550621. https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216514550621

Plack, C. J., Léger, A., Prendergast, G., Kluk, K., Guest, H., & Munro, K. J. (2016).
Toward a Diagnostic Test for Hidden Hearing Loss. *Trends in Hearing*, 20, 2331216516657466. https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216516657466

- Popelár, J., Erre, J.-P., Syka, J., & Aran, J.-M. (2001). Effects of contralateral acoustical stimulation on three measures of cochlear function in the guinea pig. *Hearing Research*, 152(1), 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5955(00)00244-6
- Prendergast, G., Couth, S., Millman, R. E., Guest, H., Kluk, K., Munro, K. J., & Plack, C.
 J. (2019). Effects of Age and Noise Exposure on Proxy Measures of Cochlear
 Synaptopathy. *Trends in Hearing*, 23, 2331216519877301.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2331216519877301
- Prendergast, G., Guest, H., Munro, K. J., Kluk, K., Léger, A., Hall, D. A., Heinz, M. G., & Plack, C. J. (2017). Effects of noise exposure on young adults with normal audiograms I: Electrophysiology. *Hearing Research*, 344, 68–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2016.10.028
- Prendergast, G., Millman, R. E., Guest, H., Munro, K. J., Kluk, K., Dewey, R. S., Hall,
 D. A., Heinz, M. G., & Plack, C. J. (2017). Effects of noise exposure on young adults with normal audiograms II: Behavioral measures. *Hearing Research*, 356, 74–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2017.10.007
- Puria, S., Guinan, J. J., & Liberman, M. C. (1996). Olivocochlear reflex assays: Effects of contralateral sound on compound action potentials versus ear-canal distortion products. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 99(1), 500–507. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.414508
- Ralli, M., Greco, A., De Vincentiis, M., Sheppard, A., Cappelli, G., Neri, I., & Salvi, R.
 (2019). Tone-in-noise detection deficits in elderly patients with clinically normal hearing. *American Journal of Otolaryngology*, 40(1), 1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2018.09.012

- Reijntjes, D. O. J., & Pyott, S. J. (2016). The afferent signaling complex: Regulation of type I spiral ganglion neuron responses in the auditory periphery. *Hearing Research*, 336, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2016.03.011
- Rhode, W. S., & Smith, P. H. (1985). Characteristics of tone-pip response patterns in relationship to spontaneous rate in cat auditory nerve fibers. *Hearing Research*, 18(2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(85)90008-5
- Ripley, S., Xia, L., Zhang, Z., Aiken, S. J., & Wang, J. (2022). Animal-to-Human
 Translation Difficulties and Problems With Proposed Coding-in-Noise Deficits in
 Noise-Induced Synaptopathy and Hidden Hearing Loss. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2022.893542
- Robertson, D., & Gummer, M. (1985). Physiological and morphological characterization of efferent neurones in the guinea pig cochlea. *Hearing Research*, 20(1), 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(85)90059-0
- Robertson, D., & Winter, I. M. (1988). Cochlear nucleus inputs to olivocochlear neurones revealed by combined anterograde and retrograde labelling in the guinea pig.
 Brain Research, 462(1), 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(88)90583-5
- Ronken, D. A. (1970). Monaural Detection of a Phase Difference between Clicks. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 47(4B), 1091–1099. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1912010
- Rose, C., & Weiss, T. F. (1988). Frequency dependence of synchronization of cochlear nerve fibers in the alligator lizard: Evidence for a cochlear origin of timing and non-timing neural pathways. *Hearing Research*, 33(2), 151–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(88)90028-7

- Ryugo, D. K. (2008). Projections of low spontaneous rate, high threshold auditory nerve fibers to the small cell cap of the cochlear nucleus in cats. *Neuroscience*, 154(1), 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.10.052
- Safieddine, S., El-Amraoui, A., & Petit, C. (2012). The Auditory Hair Cell Ribbon
 Synapse: From Assembly to Function. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *35*(1), 509–528. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113705
- Schaette, R., & McAlpine, D. (2011). Tinnitus with a Normal Audiogram: Physiological Evidence for Hidden Hearing Loss and Computational Model. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(38), 13452–13457. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2156-11.2011
- Schneider, B. A., & Hamstra, S. J. (1999). Gap detection thresholds as a function of tonal duration for younger and older listeners. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 106(1), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.427062
- Shaheen, L. A., Valero, M. D., & Liberman, M. C. (2015). Towards a Diagnosis of Cochlear Neuropathy with Envelope Following Responses. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *16*(6), 727–745. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-015-0539-3
- Shi, L., Chang, Y., Li, X., Aiken, S. J., Liu, L., & Wang, J. (2016). Coding Deficits in Noise-Induced Hidden Hearing Loss May Stem from Incomplete Repair of Ribbon Synapses in the Cochlea. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10, 231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00231
- Shi, L., Guo, X., Shen, P., Liu, L., Tao, S., Li, X., Song, Q., Yu, Z., Yin, S., & Wang, J.(2015). Noise-induced damage to ribbon synapses without permanent threshold

shifts in neonatal mice. *Neuroscience*, 304, 368–377.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.07.066

- Shi, L., Liu, K., Wang, H., Zhang, Y., Hong, Z., Wang, M., Wang, X., Jiang, X., & Yang, S. (2015). Noise induced reversible changes of cochlear ribbon synapses contribute to temporary hearing loss in mice. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *135*(11), 1093–1102. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489.2015.1061699
- Shi, L., Liu, L., He, T., Guo, X., Yu, Z., Yin, S., & Wang, J. (2013). Ribbon Synapse Plasticity in the Cochleae of Guinea Pigs after Noise-Induced Silent Damage. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e81566. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081566
- Siebert, W. M. (1965). Some implications of the stochastic behavior of primary auditory neurons. *Kybernetik*, 2(5), 206–215. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00306416
- Snell, K. B., Mapes, F. M., Hickman, E. D., & Frisina, D. R. (2002). Word recognition in competing babble and the effects of age, temporal processing, and absolute sensitivity. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *112*(2), 720–727. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.1487841
- Song, Q., Shen, P., Li, X., Shi, L., Liu, L., Wang, J., Yu, Z., Stephen, K., Aiken, S., Yin,
 S., & Wang, J. (2016). Coding deficits in hidden hearing loss induced by noise:
 The nature and impacts. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 25200.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25200
- Souchal, M., Labanca, L., Alves da Silva Carvalho, S., Macedo de Resende, L.,
 Blavignac, C., Avan, P., & Giraudet, F. (2018). Transient Abnormalities in
 Masking Tuning Curve in Early Progressive Hearing Loss Mouse Model. *BioMed Research International*, 2018, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6280969

- Stamper, G. C., & Johnson, T. A. (2015). Auditory Function in Normal-Hearing, Noise-Exposed Human Ears. *Ear & Hearing*, 36(2), 172–184. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.000000000000107
- Stansfeld, S. A., & Matheson, M. P. (2003). Noise pollution: Non-auditory effects on health. *British Medical Bulletin*, 68(1), 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldg033
- Steven Colburn, H., Carney, L. H., & Heinz, M. G. (2003). Quantifying the Information in Auditory-Nerve Responses for Level Discrimination. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 4(3), 294–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-002-1090-6
- Stone, M. A., Moore, B. C. J., & Greenish, H. (2008). Discrimination of envelope statistics reveals evidence of sub-clinical hearing damage in a noise-exposed population with 'normal' hearing thresholds. *International Journal of Audiology*, 47(12), 737–750. https://doi.org/10.1080/14992020802290543
- Stronks, H. C., Versnel, H., Prijs, V. F., & Klis, S. F. L. (2010). Suppression of the acoustically evoked auditory-nerve response by electrical stimulation in the cochlea of the guinea pig. *Hearing Research*, 259(1), 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2009.10.004
- Stucken, E. Z., & Hong, R. S. (2014). Noise-induced hearing loss: An occupational medicine perspective. *Current Opinion in Otolaryngology & Head and Neck Surgery*, 22(5), 388–393. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOO.000000000000079
- Sun, X.-M. (2008). Distortion product otoacoustic emission fine structure is responsible for variability of distortion product otoacoustic emission contralateral

suppression. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *123*(6), 4310–4320. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.2912434

- Taberner, A. M., & Liberman, M. C. (2005). Response Properties of Single Auditory Nerve Fibers in the Mouse. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 93(1), 557–569. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00574.2004
- Teich, M. C., Johnson, D. H., Kumar, A. R., & Turcott, R. G. (1990). Rate fluctuations and fractional power-law noise recorded from cells in the lower auditory pathway of the cat. *Hearing Research*, 46(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(90)90138-F
- Temchin, A. N., & Ruggero, M. A. (2010). Phase-Locked Responses to Tones of Chinchilla Auditory Nerve Fibers: Implications for Apical Cochlear Mechanics. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 11(2), 297–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-009-0197-4
- Tepe, V., Smalt, C., Nelson, J., Quatieri, T., & Pitts, K. (2017). Hidden Hearing Injury: The Emerging Science and Military Relevance of Cochlear Synaptopathy. *Military Medicine*, 182(9), e1785–e1795. https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-17-00025
- Valderrama, J. T., Beach, E. F., Yeend, I., Sharma, M., Van Dun, B., & Dillon, H.
 (2018). Effects of lifetime noise exposure on the middle-age human auditory
 brainstem response, tinnitus and speech-in-noise intelligibility. *Hearing Research*, 365, 36–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2018.06.003
- Viberg, A., & Canlon, B. (2004). The guide to plotting a cochleogram. *Hearing Research*, *197*(1–2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2004.04.016

- Viemeister, N. F. (1988). Intensity coding and the dynamic range problem. *Hearing Research*, *34*(3), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(88)90007-X
- Vlastarakos, P. V., Nikolopoulos, T. P., Tavoulari, E., Papacharalambous, G., & Korres,
 S. (2008). Auditory neuropathy: Endocochlear lesion or temporal processing
 impairment? Implications for diagnosis and management. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 72(8), 1135–1150.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2008.04.004
- Walton, J. P. (2010). Timing is everything: Temporal processing deficits in the aged auditory brainstem. *Hearing Research*, 264(1–2), 63–69.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2010.03.002
- Wang, H., Zhao, N., Yan, K., Liu, X., Zhang, Y., Hong, Z., Wang, M., Yin, Q., Wu, F.,
 Lei, Y., Li, X., Shi, L., & Liu, K. (2015). Inner hair cell ribbon synapse plasticity
 might be molecular basis of temporary hearing threshold shifts in mice. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Pathology*, 8(7), 8680–8691.
- Warr, W. B. (1992). Organization of Olivocochlear Efferent Systems in Mammals. In D.
 B. Webster, A. N. Popper, & R. R. Fay (Eds.), *The Mammalian Auditory Pathway: Neuroanatomy* (pp. 410–448). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4416-5 7
- Warr, W. B., & Guinan, J. J. (1979). Efferent innervation of the organ of corti: Two separate systems. *Brain Research*, 173(1), 152–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(79)91104-1

- Warr, W. E., White, J. S., & Nyffeler, M. J. (1982). Olivocochlear neurons: Quantitative comparison of the lateral and medial efferent systems in adult and newborn cats. *Soc Neurosci Abstr*, 8, 346.
- Weiss, T. F., & Rose, C. (1988). A comparison of synchronization filters in different auditory receptor organs. *Hearing Research*, 33(2), 175–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(88)90030-5
- Winter, I. M., & Palmer, A. R. (1991). Intensity coding in low-frequency auditory-nerve fibers of the guinea pig. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 90(4), 1958–1967. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.401675
- Xia, L., Ripley, S., Jiang, Z., Yin, X., Yu, Z., Aiken, S. J., & Wang, J. (2022).
 Synaptopathy in Guinea Pigs Induced by Noise Mimicking Human Experience and Associated Changes in Auditory Signal Processing. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2022.935371
- Ye, Y., Machado, D. G., & Kim, D. O. (2000). Projection of the marginal shell of the anteroventral cochlear nucleus to olivocochlear neurons in the cat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 420(1), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(20000424)420:1<127::AID-CNE9>3.0.CO;2-7
- Yeend, I., Beach, E. F., Sharma, M., & Dillon, H. (2017). The effects of noise exposure and musical training on suprathreshold auditory processing and speech perception in noise. *Hearing Research*, 353, 224–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2017.07.006

- Young, E. D., & Barta, P. E. (1986). Rate responses of auditory nerve fibers to tones in noise near masked threshold. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 79(2), 426–442. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.393530
- Yuan, Y., Shi, F., Yin, Y., Tong, M., Lang, H., Polley, D. B., Liberman, M. C., & Edge,
 A. S. B. (2014). Ouabain-Induced Cochlear Nerve Degeneration: Synaptic Loss and Plasticity in a Mouse Model of Auditory Neuropathy. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *15*(1), 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-013-0419-7
- Zare Sakhvidi, M. J., Zare Sakhvidi, F., Mehrparvar, A. H., Foraster, M., & Dadvand, P. (2018). Association between noise exposure and diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environmental Research*, 166, 647–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.05.011
- Zhang F, Boettcher FA, & Sun X. (2007). Contralateral suppression of distortion product otoacoustic emissions: Effect of the primary frequency in Dpgrams. *International Journal of Audiology*, 46(4), 187–195.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14992020601164162

Zhang, Z., Fan, L., Xing, Y., Wang, J., Aiken, S., Chen, Z., & Wang, J. (2020).
Temporary Versus Permanent Synaptic Loss from Repeated Noise Exposure in Guinea Pigs and C57 Mice. *Neuroscience*, 432, 94–103.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2020.02.038